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ABK is now very strongly placed 
to capitalise on an economic 
upturn. Its key strengths position 
the Bank for growth through 
sustained efficiency.

1



Board of Directors

Ahmed Yousuf Behbehani
Chairman 

Salah Ahmed Al Serhan
Board Member 

Ali Hilal Al Mutairi
Deputy Chairman and Managing Director 

Talal Mohamed Reda Behbehani
Board Member 

Ali Ibrahim Hejji Hussain Marafi
Board Member 

2  ABK Annual Report 2012



Sulaiman Abdallah Sulaiman Al Muraikhi
Board Member 

Khalid Othman Abdul Wahhab Al Othman
Board Member 

Abdullah Mahmoud Al Osta
Board Secretary 

3



million

Net Profit

KD 30
Earnings per share

20 fils

Strong fundamentals

At 27.65 per cent, our capital 
adequacy is far ahead of even 
the demanding new international 
regulatory requirements

Operational efficiency

Net interest margins and cost 
of funds were maintained at 
better than market levels, and 
operating efficiency resulted in 
a stable cost-to-income ratio

Total Assets

KD 2.97 billion

A2
Ratings

Moody’s

A-
Fitch

Financial Highlights
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Operating 
Income
(KD million)

Operating 
Profit
(KD million)

Shareholders' 
Equity
(KD million)KD 116.4 million

Operating Income

KD 80.4 million
Operating Profit

KD 517 million
Shareholders’ Equity

27.65%
Capital Adequacy Ratio
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Chairman’s Statement

“ Based on ABK’s balance 
sheet and liquidity position, 
we can look forward with 
confidence to building on the 
results we have maintained 
through difficult times.”
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Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board of Directors 
of Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait, I have 
great pleasure in presenting our 
annual report and audited financial 
statements for 2012. Despite 
persistently difficult conditions, 
such as the lingering after-effects 
of the 2008 financial crisis, and 
stagnant economic conditions, the 
Bank has performed creditably.

Although operating profits were 
maintained, booking further  
provisions resulted in lower net 
profits than last year. However, 
net interest margins and cost of 
funds were maintained at better 
than market levels, and operating 
efficiency resulted in a stable cost-
to-income ratio. 

The Bank made an annual net 
profit of KD 30 million, equating 
to earnings per share of 20 fils for 
the year. Nevertheless, with total 
assets of KD 2.97 billion at year-
end, customer deposits of KD 1.84 
billion, and shareholders’ equity 
of KD 517 million, the Bank is still 
exceptionally sound financially. 

ABK has long been noted for 
its prudent approach to risk 
management and the past year  
was no exception, booking substantial 
voluntary provisions in line with our 
very conservative assessment of the 
current operating environment. 

The additional provisions represent 
measures prudently taken to guard 
against potential outcomes. ‘Safety’  
is the all-important watchword in  
the Bank’s business philosophy and 
this was evident throughout 2012,  
in keeping with ABK’s traditional 
policy of caution and prudence 
above all. This is reflected in the 
financial strength of the Bank and 
high capital adequacy ratio of 27.65 
per cent at the end of the year. 

The Board of Directors proposes  
a cash dividend of 6 per cent (6 fils 
per share) and the issue of bonus 
shares of 7 per cent subject to the 
approval of the Bank’s annual 
general meeting and Kuwait’s 
financial regulators. 

Our 2012 plan had originally been 
based on gradual market recovery 
from the global economic crisis. 
However, despite more encouraging 
signs in the past year, this has still 
to develop momentum in Kuwait. 

The focus therefore concentrated  
on taking the opportunity to 
optimise our balance sheet, liquidity, 
and interest rate management. 
At the same time, we reviewed 
our internal operations in pursuit 
of superior efficiency in all areas, 
particularly customer service. 

Enhancing employee skills and 
capabilities is a constant priority, 
and upgrading of technology 
and systems is moving us to an 
industry-leading level. In response 
to significant new regulatory 
requirements being introduced 
in 2013, such as Corporate 
Governance Standards, Basel III,  
and the Commercial Companies 
Law, we are in the process of 
upgrading our control framework. 

All these factors contribute to 
underpinning ABK’s core strengths, 
while positioning the Bank for 
growth through sustained efficiency. 
The Bank is now very strongly placed 
to capitalise on an economic upturn 
– and to perform as well as possible 
while current conditions continue.

Kuwait’s economic fundamentals 
are undisputable and GDP growth 
is projected to average 4.8 per cent 
a year during the next three years. 
Even if planned infrastructural 
projects go ahead, the stimulus  
will revitalise the domestic economy 
and help absorb the liquidity in  
the banking sector. 

Based on ABK’s strong balance 
sheet and liquidity position, we 
can look forward with confidence 
to building on the results we have 
maintained through difficult times. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 
I thank the executive management 
and all staff members for their 
performance in 2012. Their skills, 
experience, and commitment are 
integral to our achievements during 
the year and in the future. 

I extend our sincere appreciation 
to HH Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmed Al-
Jaber Al-Sabah, the Amir of Kuwait; 
and HH Sheikh Nawaf Al-Ahmed  
Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, the Crown 
Prince. I also extend our thanks 
to officials of the Central Bank of 
Kuwait, the Ministry of Finance, the 
Ministry of Commerce and Industry, 
the Kuwait Stock Exchange, and 
the Capital Markets Authority. 

We also pay tribute to our 
shareholders for your steadfast 
commitment, and to our customers, 
whose loyal support underpins the 
Bank’s continued success.

Ahmed Yousuf Behbehani
Chairman
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Executive Management
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Chief General Manager  
and Chief Executive Officer
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CEO’s Statement

Market conditions remained very 
arduous throughout 2012, continuing 
the difficult environment of the 
previous year. The impact of the global 
financial crisis that began in 2008 is 
still being felt, and despite tentative 
signs of recovery we cannot say with 
confidence that we are moving into  
a sustained upswing.

Banking income was already under 
pressure, and proposed infrastructural 
investment has yet to provide the 
long-awaited economic stimulus. 

As a result, corporate credit growth 
for the year remained very subdued 
and lending opportunities were 
limited. This is underlined by the 
relative sluggishness of the Kuwait 
Stock Exchange index, which grew  
by just 2 per cent. 

Against this background, ABK 
returned a very satisfactory 
performance – maintaining 
operating profit roughly in line with 
2011 results. However, net profit 
declined to KD 30 million, mainly 
attributable to the precautionary 
provisions we have taken, in line 
with ABK’s customary attitude of 
being ultra-conservative in risk 
assessment. Our results reflect 
the Bank’s capital strength and its 
ability to adjust and adapt to the 
prevailing market environment.  
We can ask for no better testimony 
to the value and benefits of the 
approach we have taken.

Consequently, our balance sheet 
is extremely sound. At 27.65 per 
cent, our capital adequacy compares 
favourably with the best banks 
in the world – far ahead of even 
the demanding new international 
regulatory requirements that now 
prevail. Our strengths are further 
underlined by the investment grade 
status that the Bank’s international 
rating agencies have maintained.

By operating division, 2012 was 
largely a year of consolidation 
for Corporate Banking, reflecting 
the national economic sentiment. 
No new projects of consequence 
became available for financing so 
the emphasis was firmly on the 
optimisation of existing assets. 
Without asset growth or much by 
way of new business activity, the aim 
was to manage costs and thereby 
boost margins from net interest 
income. Nevertheless, our experience, 
expertise, and proven record in  
this sector continue to represent  
a powerful competitive advantage. 

Retail Banking, however, exceeded 
growth targets for the third 
successive year, increasing the size  
of the customer base and the volume 
of total assets despite an intensely 
competitive market environment. 
Further network expansion is 
planned, with new branches  
due to open in 2013. 

Launch of the MasterCard World 
card last year was particularly  
well-received. 

Customer satisfaction levels also 
remained high, with ABK coming 
first in the nationwide ‘Service 
Hero’ awards, where customers 
nominate service providers who 
have impressed them.

International Banking continued  
to be affected by the global 
downturn, but still returned an 
increase in net profit, despite the 
persistent problems in the eurozone, 
while maintaining counterparty  
risks within acceptable levels. 

Treasury and Investments recorded  
a successful year of increased activity, 
improving customer penetration and 
expanding fixed-income operations. 
Reducing the cost of funds continued 
to be a priority, along with the 
Bank’s long-standing commitment 
to shun transactions containing any 
speculative elements. 

The introduction of a performance 
management system by the HR 
Department is giving employees  
a simple yet effective framework to 
realise individual and organisational 
goals. The system was initiated 
and piloted in Retail Banking and 
will be applied Bank-wide in 2013, 
reinforcing individual accountability 
and tracking and evaluating overall 
performance and results. 

The ABK Academy also makes  
a vital contribution in this respect, 
responsible for continuous training 
and development programmes  
that strengthen employee skills  
and capabilities, particularly in 
customer service. 

Similarly, improved IT infrastructure 
is creating customer benefits such as 
enhanced online capabilities, while 
also providing greater operational 
efficiency, reducing risk, and 
strengthening security. 

Looking ahead, we can safely  
say that ABK is in very good shape 
to deal successfully with whatever 
challenges arise. Our capital 
adequacy is stronger than ever,  
we have excellent liquidity, and the 
precautionary provisions taken in 
recent years give us a balance sheet 
of unprecedented robustness. 

We are cautiously optimistic about an 
improvement in economic conditions 
towards the end of 2013 or early 
2014, and have equipped ourselves 
to be ready for the opportunities 
that an upturn should bring. 
Conversely, we have shown in 2012 
(and previously) that ABK has what it 
takes to fulfil the requirements of our 
customers – and our shareholders. 

I take this opportunity to thank 
all members of ABK management 
and staff for their commendable 
performance during the past year’s 
trying conditions. I am proud to  
lead such a dedicated team. 

Colin Plowman
Chief General Manager  
and Chief Executive Officer
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“ At 27.65 per cent, our capital 
adequacy compares favourably 
with the best banks in the 
world – far ahead of even the 
demanding new international 
regulatory requirements that 
now prevail.”
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Business Review 
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“ In a capital-intensive industry 
such as ours, an intimate banking 
relationship is essential to maximise 
efficient use of funds. Over the 
years, ABK has proved to be an 
invaluable partner in understanding 
customer needs and helping us 
achieve our business goals.”

Corporate Banking  
has for many years been  

the core pillar of ABK and  
it continues to be a  

principal source  
of revenue
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ABK’s business philosophy of  
forging partnerships with customers, 
rather than conducting arm’s length 
supplier-client transactions, has 
long been a mainstay of the Bank’s 
success. By striving to provide value 
and create individual solutions to 
their needs, ABK has earned the 
trust of customers across all sectors. 
The Bank’s reputation for business 
integrity and as a safe haven in 
troubled times is an invaluable  
asset that shone clearly through  
all areas of operation in 2012. 

Corporate Banking
Corporate Banking has for many 
years been the core pillar of ABK 
and it continues to be a principal 
source of revenue, despite the 
relatively static operating conditions 
in recent times. The same held true 
in 2012, with growth opportunities 
inhibited by the poor business 
climate and the continued impasse 
in reforming the domestic economy. 
Although Government spending 
has been budgeted for new 
infrastructural projects, accelerating 
their implementation will boost  
the economy and improve  
operating conditions. 

In the absence of any significant 
new volume in project finance 
activity, the focus was concentrated 
on consolidating existing assets by 
improving the quality of the credit 
portfolio, reducing the cost of funds, 
and maintaining due diligence on 
risk exposure. 

Daily monitoring takes place to 
review the spread between deposits 
and assets and to maintain the 
optimum balance. 

Delays in releasing funds for 
projects that are in progress 
are affecting client cash flows, 
increasing the reliance on bank 
support and impacting margins 
for lenders and borrowers. In this 
area, ABK’s recently established 
specialised Advisory Services Unit 
has been very active, assisting 
clients by giving managerial and 
operational guidance on optimising 
revenues and servicing debt. The 
Unit arranges the restructuring 
of finance if necessary, working 
to protect the Bank’s assets while 
partnering clients through difficult 
trading conditions. New services, 
such as online payment gateways 
for payroll processing, provide 
further efficiencies and cost  
savings for clients. 

Intensive efforts were necessary to 
compensate for the impact of net 
interest income resulting from the 
lower interest rate environment, 
with cost savings implemented 
to help offset the shortfall and 
maintain profitability. 

Cross-functional collaboration and 
marketing are also yielding benefits. 
Training sessions with Trade Finance 
and Treasury led to new business 
growth in 2012. And a joint 
programme with Retail Banking  
on promoting the MasterCard 
World card to corporate clients 
proved very successful. 

Retail Banking
Despite intensely competitive 
market conditions, Retail Banking 
achieved its growth targets and 
met all the performance objectives 
set at the beginning of the year. 
Customer numbers, lending 
volumes, and credit card business 
all recorded healthy increases  
while maintaining margins. 

Service quality is proving a 
significant factor in creating and 
retaining retail business. ABK’s 
own surveys show consistently 
high levels of customer satisfaction 
and this has been confirmed by 
independent endorsement. ABK  
was ranked first in the retail 
banking category of Kuwait’s 
‘Service Hero’ awards, an 
independent survey where 
customers rate companies on 
reliability, speed, product quality, 
value for money, location of 
offering, staff quality, call centre, 
and website.

As a Kuwaiti bank whose core 
business is driven by the national 
and expatriate population, providing 
customers with an accessible and 
convenient branch network is a 
constant priority. Difficulties in 
securing suitable sites, coupled 
with steeply rising start-up costs, 
prevented further expansion in 
2012. New branches are planned 
to open in 2013, further expanding 
our branch network.

The location of branches and  
the services provided are carefully 
planned to ensure the appropriate 
match to customer needs, and  
in-depth studies were carried  
out in 2012 to ensure that  
new openings meet market  
requirements and can quickly 
generate operational profitability. 

Plans to introduce mobile banking 
were well advanced during the 
year, while customers benefited 
from improvements in processes 
and service standards at existing 
branches and banking channels. 
These included development of  
a new loan origination system  
that will enable speedier approvals, 
and enhance customer experience.

The auto loan product launched 
in 2012 continued to attract 
significant volumes of new business 
and was a major contributor to 
overall growth in consumer lending. 

Consistent growth in credit card 
business was led by the ABK 
Emirates World MasterCard, the 
only card issued in Kuwait to be 
co-branded with Emirates Airlines. 
Although the World card was 
launched only in 2011, ABK has  
a long association with Emirates 
and the new card has built strongly 
on the successful record of the 
partnership. Titanium and Platinum 
segments were revamped during 
2012, repositioning them in the 
market and contributing to the 
sustained World card growth trend. 

Business Review 
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Another first for Kuwait was the 
launch of the MasterCard Diamond 
card. The card is exclusive to 
premium customers and has quickly 
become a coveted status symbol. 

International Banking 
Growth in bank-to-bank 
syndications and short-term trade 
finance highlighted a profitable year 
for International Banking, despite 
continuing depression in the global 
economy. Having no exposure to 
troubled economies protected 
ABK from the eurozone crisis, and 
the Bank’s countrywide portfolio 
maintained an overwhelmingly 
investment-grade rating. The 
same applies when assessing the 
portfolio by individual borrower. 

Short-term trade finance business 
continued to be the main focus 
in 2012. With the BRICS countries 
showing some resilience to the 
economic gloom of 2012, it was 
little surprise that these remained 
a key area for ABK. During 2013 
we expect these economies to slow 
slightly and thus we may even focus 
on the fast- growing economies of 
the South East/Far East.

Our two branches in the UAE 
(Dubai and Abu Dhabi) continued 
to perform within expectations. 

Our customer base in Abu Dhabi 
maintained its growth trend and 
this is reflected in the overall 
financial performance of our UAE 
operations. Economic improvement 
is evident in Dubai and we will 
seek to expand our portfolio 
conservatively and cautiously. 
We do not envisage any of the 
proposed UAE banking regulation 
amendments (mortgage caps and 
single borrower limits) having any 
material impact on our business 
and are reasonably confident of 
further opportunities for growth. 

Certain operational changes to our 
businesses in the UAE will improve 
efficiencies and drive performance, 
and actively manage the credit 
portfolio to avoid any depreciation. 
We have budgeted for incremental 
growth over the next three years 
while we assess the longevity of 
the economic cycle in Dubai and 
Abu Dhabi and the opportunities  
it will create for our operations.

Further geographic expansion 
involved South Africa, with ABK 
participating in a bank-funded 
syndication for the first time. ABK 
is already active in syndications in 
Turkey and the GCC states and we 
expect this to continue in 2013-14.

Having no exposure to troubled 
economies protected ABK from 
the eurozone crisis, and the 
Bank’s countrywide portfolio 
maintained an overwhelmingly 
investment-grade rating

ABK was ranked first  
in the retail banking  
category of Kuwait’s  

‘Service Hero’  
awards

1st
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Business Review 

“ I am happy dealing with ABK 
because I am always treated as  
a valued customer and receive 
quality service. Over the years that  
I have been banking with ABK, I have 
come to appreciate the personal 
touch that makes all the difference  
to the customer experience.”

Retail Banking 
achieved its growth 

targets and met all the 
performance objectives 

set at the beginning  
of the year
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A joint programme with Retail 
Banking on promoting the 
MasterCard World card to corporate 
clients proved very successful

17



Treasury and Investments 
A successful year of increasing 
activity was marked by better 
customer penetration, improved 
foreign exchange income, expansion 
of fixed-income business, and 
continued reduction in the cost  
of funds. 

Continued development of the 
OPICS Treasury system extended 
to its application in ABK’s Dubai 
branch. The system integrates 
operations such as fixed income, 
equity and treasury trades, 
providing a more efficient and 
timely flow of information, which 
leads to more responsiveness  
to customer requirements. 

Increased levels of customer 
contact, particularly in collaboration 
with Corporate Banking and Trade 
Finance, yielded significant new 
business potential. This involved 
joint calling and joint presentation 
programmes, as well as a major in-
house seminar for clients focusing 
on Treasury and Trade Finance 
activities, such as hedging solutions. 

International markets continued  
to display uncertainty and 
volatility. Notwithstanding this the 
Treasury department, tasked with 
managing various regulatory ratios, 
achieved full compliance in this 
regard during the year. Focus also 
continued on reducing the overall 
cost of funds and increasing the 
Bank’s interest margin, both of 
which rank favourably amongst  
our peer group.

Investment activity over the year 
maintained the focus on liquid 
and regional markets. With credit 
spreads in the region declining 
significantly during the year, the 
fixed income portfolio continued  
to contribute to the bottom line  
of the Bank. 

Ahli Capital Investment Company
Ahli Capital, the investment arm 
of ABK, manages the Bank’s Gulf 
and Kuwaiti Funds and client 
portfolios. It also conducts studies 
and financial analyses on listed and 
unlisted companies and provides 
advisory services. Ahli Capital grew 
its portfolio during 2012.

Key support groups
Human Resources 
A very satisfactory year saw 
sustained emphasis on training  
and development, in line with 
ABK’s strategic plan to create 
well-motivated employees of high 
calibre who can deliver the Bank’s 
demanding standards of efficiency 
and service quality. 

A performance management 
system was piloted very successfully 
with Retail Banking and this will 
be implemented across all business 
units in 2013. The system enables 
everyone to understand how they 
can best contribute to achieving 
the Bank’s objectives, and creates 
a direct correlation between 
performance and reward. 

Business Review 

Increased levels of customer 
contact, particularly in collaboration 
with Corporate Banking and Trade 
Finance, yielded significant new 
business potential

The ABK  
Academy is a vital  

element in the preparation  
and training of fresh graduates 
embarking on a banking career, 

and instilling ABK’s culture  
and values in all  

new recruits

18  ABK Annual Report 2012



As well as presenting general 
training that covers virtually every 
area of banking operations, specific 
programmes were delivered in 
2012 to address the new Basel 
III requirements, while e-learning 
modules were introduced for anti-
money laundering. 

The ABK Academy is a vital element 
in the preparation and training 
of fresh graduates embarking on 
a banking career, and instilling 
ABK’s culture and values in all 
new recruits. The benefits become 
apparent in superior levels of 
customer service, as recognised by 
ABK’s receipt of the Euroservice 
Award in the banking category. 

Recruiting and training Kuwaiti 
nationals is always a primary 
objective and ABK has consistently 
exceeded the requirements specified, 
with Retail Banking leading the 
way in the proportion of nationals 
employed, particularly at branch 
level. The Bank’s support for 
Kuwaitisation is integral to its policy 
of contributing to the community 
and the national economy.

Information Technology
After two years of working on 
efficiency improvements and 
operational streamlining, the 
foundation is now in place to 
launch key strategic initiatives that 
will take ABK to industry-leading 
levels in information technology. 

The upgrading of the main data 
centre in 2012 was implemented 
to leading international safety 
and security standards, while also 
decommissioning obsolete servers, 
taking 150 man-days to complete 
– all without system downtime or 
customer service disruption. 

The Security & Access Upgrade 
project resulted in enhanced 
controls and management 
of access to critical systems, 
involving exceptional teamwork 
and collaboration across IT, Risk, 
Operations, and all business units, 
particularly Retail Banking. 

Several more projects focused on 
increasing operational efficiency  
and further enhancement of 
security controls, such as the 
RiskSecure Anti-Money Laundering 
system upgrade in Kuwait and 
the UAE. Swift Alliance was 
upgraded by adding innovative new 
features and an automated asset 
management and tracking system 
was also introduced.

A comprehensive online banking 
upgrade has improved customer 
service, as does the new Customer 
Call Centre IVR system with 
associated disaster recovery 
capabilities. A new automated 
Credit Scoring System speeds up 
approvals for loans and cards, and 
assists greatly with retail lending 
processes of the Bank. 

The IT team also introduced 
new components in the Bank’s 
core processing capabilities, 
strengthening security and 
optimising system administration. 

Chip-based cards have been re-
issued to all cardholders (debit  
and credit), thus completing  
full EMV compliance. 

Implementing the OPICS treasury 
system for the UAE, along with 
a new Funds Transfer System, 
now gives capability for straight-
through processing for local 
Dirham payments. And an overhaul 
of the software development 
lifecycle has improved overall 
efficiency and risk control. 

A comprehensive contract and 
licensing review was performed  
and resulted in the consolidation  
of systems and applications 
licensing, leading to significant 
annual cost savings. 

The initiatives completed over 
the past two years have created 
a platform from which to launch 
strategic solutions in a sustainable 
manner, supporting the business 
and operational divisions to drive 
growth across the Bank in the 
coming years.

Operations 
A year of consolidation focused  
on reviewing processes and policies 
to identify potential exposure and 
operational risk. A number of 
automation issues were identified 
and corrective measures applied. 

Bank-wide analysis of business 
impact was completed and the 
Business Continuity Plan updated, 
including for the two UAE 
branches, after successful testing  
of all critical systems. 

The division continued its active 
involvement with other banks and 
the Central Bank in the streamlining 
of cheque clearance, representing 
ABK on the steering committee and 
contributing to the drafting of the 
document of common understanding 
and inter-bank agreements.

In recognition of its achievement 
in straight-through processing for 
Swift MT, JP Morgan presented  
ABK with its Quality Award. 

Trade Finance
Trade finance is a core service 
provided through corporate 
and international banking with 
the support of the Bank’s team 
of specialists in this area. ABK’s 
extensive international network  
of correspondent banks enables  
the Bank to transact virtually 
anywhere in the world, offering 
importers and exporters the fast, 
efficient, and high-quality service 
that is the cornerstone of its 
business success and expansion.

Trade Finance always focuses on  
the continuous growth of business 
for corporate, international and 
retail divisions and is a key factor 
in the Bank’s mission to further 
develop and improve the quality  
of customer service.

Internal Audit
Internal audit uses a risk-based 
methodology to assist the Board 
and Executive Management by 
providing an independent and 
objective assessment of the internal 
control arrangements. 
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Business Review 

A successful year of increasing 
activity was marked by better 
customer penetration, improved 
foreign exchange income, 
expansion of fixed-income 
business, and continued  
reduction in the cost of funds

Economic  
improvement is evident  

in Dubai and we will  
seek to expand our  

portfolio
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“ When your business is reliant 
on efficient processing of letters 
of credit, foreign exchange 
transactions, and fast response to 
currency fluctuations, having ABK 
as a banking partner is a huge asset. 
We see ABK becoming increasingly 
active in international finance.”

Growth in bank-to- 
bank syndications and 

short-term trade finance 
highlighted a profitable  
year for International 

Banking
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The assessment includes evaluating 
the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Bank’s risk management, 
financial and governance processes 
which is supplemented with an 
electronic corrective action follow-
up process. 

Legal
Legal division is responsible for 
managing all judicial matters that 
affect the Bank, representing the 
Bank before courts when necessary, 
and also provides legal advice to 
executive management and all 
business sectors – in particular the 
corporate, retail, and international 
banking divisions. The important 
role played by the division has a 
considerable effect on minimising 
the legal risks to which the Bank 
may be exposed, and to protect the 
Bank’s rights by collecting funds 
from its debtors through legal 
channels and courts. Legal assists 
in discussing all issues and lawsuits 
related to the daily business of 
the various departments, as well 
as preparing and vetting all legal 
documents, credit contracts,  
and agreements. 

Risk Management
Risk management is closely 
integrated into the Bank’s business 
culture and in its day-to-day 
operations. The Bank has established 
comprehensive frameworks for 
managing all material risks identified 
under Basel guidelines. 

The frameworks cover identification, 
measurement, and monitoring of 
the risks covered under Pillars I and 
II of Basel guidelines. 

The Bank also complies with  
all guidelines for managing risks 
advised by the Central Bank of 
Kuwait. At present these cover credit 
risk, market risk, operational risk, 
credit concentration risk, remained 
risk under credit risk mitigants, 
interest rate risk in the banking 
book, liquidity risk, remained 
operational risk, legal risk, strategic 
risk, and reputation risk.

The Bank is also represented on 
committees set up by the Central 
Bank of Kuwait and the Kuwait 
Banking Association to address 
banking industry issues such  
as Basel III. 

The Bank’s Risk Appetite Statement 
sets out the boundaries within 
which risks are to be managed  
in terms of availability and use of 
capital, after setting aside buffers 
for stress conditions. To improve 
its risk management practices, in 
2012 the Bank further enhanced its 
systems and processes to measure 
risk areas and minimise or eliminate 
potential threats.

A robust system has been established 
for internal capital adequacy 
assessment, and the Bank’s risk 
management practices are compliant 
with international techniques for 
assessing and managing risks across 
the business spectrum. 

Its long-term goal is to be among 
the best banks in application of risk 
analysis techniques for better risk 
management. The Bank regularly 
applies ’stress testing’ analysis 
across asset classes. 

For managing risk in the light  
of the global financial crisis and 
its continuing aftermath, the Bank 
proactively seeks to apply the best 
risk management practices across 
its organisational structure and 
decision-making processes. 

Board Secretariat
The Board Secretariat manages the 
affairs of ABK’s Board of Directors 
and advises the Board on various 
matters. It also carries out a liaison 
and coordination function between 
the Board and the Executive 
Management in matters such as  
the supervision of business activities, 
while also handling all shareholder-
related activities such as providing 
information and share statements, 
and distributing dividends and 
bonus shares (through the Kuwait 
Clearing Company). 

The secretariat also advises and 
updates the Board on all matters 
related to the corporate business 
and new laws and regulations 
issued by the regulatory authorities. 
It is responsible for various Board 
Compliance Reports which must  
be submitted periodically to 
regulatory authorities. 

It also supervises the Bank’s 
relationship with the regulatory 
authorities such as the Central Bank 
of Kuwait, Ministry of Commerce 
& Industry, Ministry of Labor and 
Social Work, Capital Markets 
Authority, Kuwait Stock Exchange 
and Kuwait Clearing Company.

It participates in the Board 
Committees and functions as 
rapporteur. It coordinates the  
works of such committees and 
follows up their functions with  
the related paries.

It is also responsible for scheduling 
Board meetings, annual general 
meetings, preparing agendas, and 
writing minutes. The secretariat  
also handles the Bank’s corporate 
social responsibility activities.

Anti-Money Laundering
The Bank is committed to its 
responsibility to minimise the 
threats and risks from money 
laundering and financial crimes 
through the regional and global 
financial systems. It complies with 
all guidelines and regulations of  
the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) 
and Capital Markets Authority (CMA) 
on anti-money laundering (AML). 
AML requirements, particularly the 
‘Know Your Customer’ obligations, 
are strictly adhered to. 

The Bank’s systems ensure 
monitoring and scrutiny of 
transactions and verification of 
customers’ details in accordance 
with guidelines from local and 
international regulatory authorities. 

Business Review 
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The Bank acts to ensure that its 
systems and personnel operate 
efficiently in combating money 
laundering and preventing  
financial crime. 

During 2012, further steps were 
taken to ensure that suspicious 
transactions do not escape 
attention, using sophisticated 
control systems to constantly 
monitor and analyse potential 
breaches of the regulations.  
All staff are now benefiting from 
the introduction of an e-learning 
program that communicates 
essential knowledge and tests 
employees on their awareness  
and skills in observing AML 
measures. Dedicated AML officials 
regularly attend specialised AML 
courses, and periodical bulletins 
and updated information are 
regularly circulated to all staff. Such 
initiatives continue to improve the 
Bank’s effectiveness in this area.

Corporate Social Responsibility
ABK’s outstanding achievements 
in contributing to the welfare of 
society were recognised in 2012 
by receipt of the Excellence Award 
from the Arab Organisation for 
Social Responsibility, singling out 
ABK as Kuwait’s most socially 
responsible bank. 

The award was made after a 
comprehensive review of ABK’s 
social responsibility efforts and 
achievements in recent years.

Under the slogan ‘Our Society… 
Our Responsibility’ the Bank has 
supported a wide spectrum of 
causes, ranging from education 
to youth, healthcare, and the 
environment. Activities included 
various sports, health awareness, 
and entertainment programmes for 
staff, and supporting CSR events 
run by private institutions and non-
profit organisations. These mainly 
related to student and youth affairs 
in Kuwait, with special emphasis  
on employment. 

The Arab Organisation for Social 
Responsibility has a high reputation 
among global institutions and 
societies, especially as it liaises with 
ministries and official institutions in 
the Arab world to adopt international 
standards of social responsibility. 

Its 2012 award to ABK underlines 
the Bank’s long-standing 
commitment to social upliftment, 
and fostering sustainable economic 
and environmental policies and 
practices across our business 
activities, our employees, and  
our corporate culture. 

The Bank is acutely conscious of 
its role in Kuwaiti society, not just 
as a provider of essential business 
services but as a catalyst in the 
well-being and development of the 
community at large. Initiating and 
supporting health and education 
projects, sponsoring sport events, 
and providing patronage for 
cultural activities are all part of 
ABK’s extensive commitment to 
corporate social responsibility.

Under the slogan ‘Our Society… 
Our Responsibility’ the Bank has 
supported a wide spectrum of causes, 
ranging from education to youth, 
healthcare, and the environment

The award  
underlines the 

Bank’s long-standing 
commitment to social 

upliftment, and fostering 
sustainable economic  

and environmental 
policies
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Business Review 

In constantly striving to give 
customers superior standards  
of service, ABK gives high priority 
to developing employee skills and 
capabilities, supported by regular 
upgrades of technology
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Excellence 
Award

ABK was singled out as Kuwait’s 
most socially responsible bank  

by receipt of the Excellence Award 
from the Arab Organisation for 

Social Responsibility

At 27.65 per cent, ABK’s capital 
adequacy is the highest of any  
bank in Kuwait and probably  

among the best  
in the world

New branches are planned 
to open during 2013, further 

expanding our branch network

30 branches

Key strategic initiatives will take 
ABK to industry-leading levels  

in information technology

27.65%
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Risk Management

THE GROUP STRUCTURE
The group structure consists of Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait (parent bank) and subsidiary Ahli Capital Investment Company, which are engaged in commercial 
banking activities of corporate banking, retail banking, international banking, treasury services, and investment activities and advisory services. The parent 
bank and the subsidiary are headquartered in Kuwait.

PILLAR III DISCLOSURES
Under the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) Basel II guidelines of 31 December 2005, as amended, the banks are to follow a standardised approach for Pillar I 
minimum capital requirements. The Central Bank of Kuwait also issued guidelines in June 2009 for the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process under 
the Pillar II supervisory review process. 

The group has adopted these guidelines in its capital adequacy assessment and management for all material risks covered under Pillar I and Pillar II.

The major highlights of these regulations are:

•		Banks	must	maintain	a	capital	adequacy	ratio	at	a	minimum	of	12	per	cent.	

•		Banks	have	to	adopt	the	Standardised	Approach	for	implementing	Basel	II,	using	national	discretion	for:	

 - Adopting Option II for bank exposures, 

 - Adopting the top three rating agencies as External Credit Assessment Institutions, and

	 -	 Defining	SME	as	the	maximum	aggregate	retail	exposure	limit	to	one	SME	or	to	any	group	of	SMEs	not	exceeding	KD	250,000.	

•		The	Bank’s	external	auditors	must	audit	capital	adequacy	returns.

•		The	Bank	must	conduct	Internal	Capital	assessment	for	all	material	risks	(Pillar	II	risks)	under	the	Internal	Capital	Adequacy	Assessment	Process	(ICAAP).	
These	risks	include	credit	concentration	risk,	CRM	risks,	remained	operation	risk,	legal	risk,	interest	rate	risk,	liquidity	risk,	strategic	risk,	reputation	risk	etc.

•		The	Bank	must	conduct	stress	testing	of	the	Bank’s	one-year	forward	business	projections	under	different	scenarios	and	assess	the	impact	on	capital	
adequacy and profitability.

Under the Framework of Capital Adequacy the Bank must provide timely, accurate, relevant and adequate disclosures of qualitative and quantitative 
information that enables users to assess its activities and risk profile. The following public disclosures are made in line with the requirements of the Central 
Bank of Kuwait.

Subsidiaries and significant investments
The	Bank	has	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary	company,	Ahli	Capital	Investment	company	K.S.C.	(Closed).	The	subsidiary	is	engaged	in	investment	management	
and	advisory	activities,	and	comes	under	the	supervision	of	the	Capital	Market	Authority	and	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait.	

Risk	exposures	and	capital	management	in	the	Bank	are	performed	at	consolidated	level	including	the	subsidiary’s	activities.	However,	the	subsidiary	also	
performs its own separate capital adequacy exercise to determine its capital levels individually on a standalone basis.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The capital structure of the Bank consists of Tier I capital (paid-up equity capital and reserves) and Tier II capital, which includes 45 per cent of the fair 
valuation reserves and a general provision (subject to maximum of 1.25 per cent of total credit risk weighted assets). There are no innovative or complex 
capital instruments in the capital structure of the Bank. 

Capital Structure as at 31 December 2012 (KD’000s)

1. Paid-up share capital / common stock 151,324
2. Reserves 325,710

Less:
3.	Treasury	Shares (118)
4.	Significant	minority	investments (5,386)

Tier I 471,530

45% of asset revaluation reserves 2,491 
45% of fair valuation reserves 11,342 
General provisions (subject to maximum of 1.25% of total credit risk weighted assets) 22,373 
Significant	minority	investments (5,386)

Tier II 30,820 

Tier III -
Other deductions from capital -

Total eligible capital after deductions 502,350

Capital adequacy
The	Bank’s	capital	management	philosophy	 is	aimed	at	maintaining	an	optimum	level	of	capital	 to	enable	 it	 to	pursue	strategies	that	build	 long-term	
shareholder value, whilst always meeting minimum Pillar I capital requirements as well as Pillar II capital requirements. The Pillar II capital requirements are 
the	Bank’s	internal	estimate	of	the	capital	required	to	cover	all	its	material	risks	including	those	which	are	not	captured	under	Pillar	I	capital,	which	include	
credit concentration risk, interest rate risk in the banking book, liquidity risk, legal risk, residual operational risk, strategic risk, reputation risk etc. 

The objective is to maximise its return on capital and, at the same time, provide for unexpected losses. The Bank manages its capital in an integrated manner 
with the aim of maintaining strong capital ratios and high ratings. This calls for a balanced approach: maintaining capital levels that are sufficient to provide 
a high return to shareholders; meeting the requirements of regulators, rating agencies and other stakeholders (including deposit holders), while supporting 
future business growth. The cost of capital and its composition in terms of its quality and stability is also considered. 

The Bank has established an ICAAP framework which entails:

•	Incorporation	of	the	business	plan	with	a	three-year	horizon	for	capital	assessment;

•	Assessment	and	measurement	of	the	material	risks	in	the	Bank’s	exposures	as	per	Pillar	I	and	II	guidelines;

•	Monitoring	of	risks	against	the	risk	limits	established	through	the	risk	strategies;

•	Stress	testing	of	the	Bank’s	exposures	on	a	Bank-wide	basis	to	assess	the	capital	adequacy	in	case	of	adverse	scenarios;	and

•	Periodic	assessment	and	regular	reporting	of	the	ICAAP	results	to	the	senior	management	and	Board	to	take	appropriate	remedial	actions.	
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Risk Management (continued)

Capital adequacy (continued)

ICAAP framework of the Bank

Capital adequacy scoring allocation matrix
The Bank also conducts a self-assessment to assess the inherent risk as well as assessing the strength of internal supervision, risk management system, 
infrastructure, other support system, and governance. 

The Bank manages the adequacy of its capital under the following structures:

Capital adequacy planning framework
The	Bank	reviews	the	adequacy	of	its	regulatory	capital	to	support	its	current	and	future	activities	on	an	ongoing	basis.	Strategic	business	objectives	and	
future	capital	needs	are	assessed	within	this	framework.	The	Bank	employs	capital	rationing	techniques	to	allocate	capital	for	each	of	the	Bank’s	business	
units in order to optimise returns. The annual budget plan provides an overall direction to individual business units to estimate overall growth in assets and 
its	impact	on	the	required	regulatory	capital.	The	Bank	ensures	that	capital	ratios	are	maintained	above	the	regulatory	minimum.	Sources	of	future	capital	
are identified and plans put in place to raise and retain capital, under the terms of the framework. 

The Bank plans its capital projections for a three-year period to assess the capital availability and adequacy, taking into account the strategic business 
plans and other initiatives. This three-year assessment is performed at the end of every year to enable the Bank to determine its capital needs. The strategic 
business environment and other factors are considered in the three-year forward-looking capital assessment process. 

The annual dividend payout is prudently determined and proposed by the Board of Directors, endeavouring to meet shareholder expectations and regulatory 
capital requirements. 

Net stress testManagement actions

Assumptions Business Plans Strategy

Identification of material risks 
specific to business models

Internal capital model 
to quanitify risk

Projection of Pillar I & II CAR  
for 3 years horizon

Additional capital required  
for stress test

Gross stress test Development of specific stress
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Sensitivity analysis and stress testing
The	Bank	has	set	up	a	structural	programme	for	the	stress	testing	whereby	Risk	Management,	in	coordination	with	the	business	lines,	identifies	all	the	
material	risk	factors	affecting	the	Bank’s	operations.	Based	on	these	risk	factors,	plausible	stress	scenarios	(mild,	medium	and	severe)	are	designed	and	
exposures	are	stressed	to	assess	the	impact	on	the	Bank’s	capital	adequacy	and	profitability.

The Bank carries out sensitivity analysis on the volatility of collateral, fair valuation reserves, possible rating downgrades of borrowers/guarantors, and the 
achievability	of	profit	projections.	The	Bank’s	capital	solvency	is	then	assessed	and	reported	to	the	Board	of	Directors.	

The Bank runs a stress-testing programme for one-year business projections as part of its risk management process for capital management. This process is 
performed every half year to assess the capital adequacy and is reported to the Board of Directors. 

 
The stress testing programme of the Bank covers the following risk categories:

•	Credit	risk	–	Default	on	the	loans	provided	to	counterparties	including	financial	institutions,	corporate	and	retail	borrowers.

•		Concentration	risk	–	Concentration	in	the	form	of	exposures	towards	individuals,	or	a	particular	industry/sector,	collateral	or	concentration	in	countries	
or regions.

•	Interest	rate	risk	–	Adverse	changes	in	interest/yield	curve.

•	Market	risk	–	Adverse	changes	in	prices	of	assets	and	the	effect	of	these	changes	on	the	portfolio	of	the	Bank	and	markets.

•	Liquidity	risk	–	Reduction	in	credit	lines,	non-availability	of	financing	facilities,	bank-specific	and	systemic	liquidity	shocks	etc.

•	Operational	risk	–	Risk	categories	as	defined	by	Basel	II.

•	CRM	risk	–	Collateral	values	considered	as	CRM	are	stressed	taking	into	consideration	the	decline	in	market	values	of	shares	and	real	estate.

•	Legal	risk:	Are	stressed	as	part	of	the	Operational	risk	scenario	analysis.

•	Strategic	risk	and	reputation	risk:	Capital	for	strategic	risk	and	reputation	risk	is	further	stressed	under	the	mild,	medium	and	severe	scenarios. 

For the purpose of stress testing the Bank considers all portfolios, specifically including:

•	All	on-balance	sheet	positions	in	the	banking	book	and	the	trading	book;

•	Off-balance	sheet	positions	(commitments,	contingencies,	derivative	contracts	etc.);

•	Risk	mitigants	such	as	collateral	values,	values	of	hedging	instruments	etc;	

•	Exposures	across	business	units,	geographies,	product	segments	etc.	

•	Stress	scenarios	on	operational	risks;	and

•	Liquidity	profiles	&	gaps.

The	Bank	has	designed	stress	scenarios	for	stress	testing	purposes.	Based	on	the	Bank’s	risk	policies,	three	stress	scenarios	are	considered	for	stress	testing	
purposes.	 These	 scenarios	 are	 ‘Mild’,	 ‘Medium’	 and	 ‘Severe’	 scenarios.	 For	 the	 purpose	 of	 stress	 testing,	 the	 different	 risk	 categories	 are	 individually	
considered,	including	the	Bank’s	subsidiary,	and	grossed	to	assess	the	impact	on	a	consolidated	basis.	Different	levels	of	stress	are	applied	for	various	risk	
categories as quantified under the three scenarios to determine the stress losses.

The Bank also has instituted sufficient governance process for its capital adequacy and assessment process with independent review by Internal Audit and 
Financial Control for compliance with policy, accuracy of data and reasonableness of output.
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Risk Management (continued)

Capital adequacy (continued)

Composition analysis
The composition of capital in terms of Tiers I, II and III is analysed to ensure capital stability and to reduce volatility in the capital structure. 

Capital adequacy as at 31 December 2012
Required capital 

(KD’000s)

1.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 1,170
2. Claims on banks 23,753
3. Claims on corporate 116,485
4. Regulatory retail exposures 28,411
5. Past due exposures 3,873
6. Other exposures 41,091

Total 214,783

Less: General provision in excess of 1.25% risk weighted assets (13,241)
Net credit risk weighted exposure 201,542
Market	risk	exposure 193
Operational risk exposure 16,268

Grand Total 218,003

Capital Adequacy Ratios:

Tier I 25.96%

Total 27.65%

RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AND PROCESS 
Under Basel II guidelines banks are required to establish comprehensive frameworks for managing all material risks. The frameworks are to address the 
identification, measurement and monitoring process of all material risks across the Bank. In addition to credit risk, market risk and operational risk under 
Pillar I, banks have been advised by Central Bank of Kuwait to assess the risks and capital under Pillar II for all material risk faced by the bank like credit 
concentration	risk,	CRM	risk,	interest	rate	risk	in	the	banking	book,	liquidity	risk,	remained	operation	risk,	legal	risk,	strategic	risk,	reputation	risk	etc.	

The Bank has in place risk frameworks for managing various risks as identified under the Central Bank of Kuwait Basel II and ICAAP guidelines. Risk 
management	is	governed	by	the	Risk	Management	Frameworks	that	include	Risk	Manual,	Risk	Appetite	and	Assessment,	Risk	Measurement	and	Stress	
Testing	models	and	methodology,	and	Capital	Adequacy	Assessment	Matrices,	which	are	approved	by	the	Board.	Risk	is	embedded	in	the	decision-making	
process on all risk types to enable the Bank to manage the risks within acceptable levels.
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The Bank has also articulated a risk appetite statement that sets out the boundaries within which the risks have to be managed in terms of availability 
and use of capital, after setting aside a buffer for stress conditions. Brief descriptions of the risk appetite statement along with the risks identified and the 
methodology used to manage those risks are stated below:

Risk appetite statement
The Bank has introduced a risk appetite framework and risk culture in managing its exposures diligently in order to ensure risks are taken and managed 
within	the	risk	tolerable	levels	and	capital	budgeting.	In	this	respect	a	risk	appetite	statement	has	been	defined	providing	a	basis	for	setting	the	Bank’s	
risk-taking capacity, maintaining a risk buffer, risk limits within business strategy, risk parameters for overall business objectives, appetite indicators for 
monitoring and reporting. 

At the Bank-wide level the risk appetite statement is based on the capital allocation, the quality of assets, the earnings volatility, the liquidity risk, and 
regulatory compliance. These parameters are then cascaded down to business units by setting a series of risk limits applicable for each business line. 

Risk limits/thresholds
The Bank sets risk limits as part of its business and strategic plan. The risk limits would be monitored within the risk appetite framework by business lines 
based on the business plans. The risk appetite statements have been embedded within each risk management framework for managing credit, market, 
operational and strategic and reputation risk. These appetite statements have been translated into specific risk limits and thresholds for managing risk levels 
within the appetite levels.

Monitoring, control and reporting of risk appetite and limits
ABK monitors the risk appetite, risk limits and thresholds periodically through its monitoring, control and reporting mechanism. These are monitored with the aim 
of assessing the level of risk exposures of the Bank, and to take appropriate corrective measures needed to maintain the appetite levels within acceptable ranges.

Risk control and governance
The	primary	goal	of	risk	management	is	to	ensure	that	the	Bank’s	asset	and	liability	profile,	its	trading	positions,	and	its	credit	and	operational	activities	
do not expose it to losses that could threaten its viability. Risk management assists in ensuring that risk exposures do not become excessive, relative to the 
Bank’s	capital	and	financial	positions.	Policies	for	hedging	and	mitigating	risk,	and	strategies	and	processes	for	monitoring	the	continuing	effectiveness	of	
hedges,	are	covered	under	Significant	Accounting	Policies	in	the	financial	statements.	

Risk	Management	includes	the	following	four	elements:	

•	Risk	Identification,	

•	Risk	Measurement,	

•	Risk	Monitoring,	and	

•	Risk	Control.
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Risk Management (continued)

Risk control and governance (continued)
The	organisational	structure	of	the	Bank’s	Risk	Management	Division	is	set	out	below:

Deputy Chairman & 
Managing Director

Executive General Manager
Risk Management Division

ICAAP Unit

Credit Risk 
Unit

Committees

-  Management 
Credit 
Committee

-  Corporate Credit 
Committee

Committees

- ALCO 
-  Investment 

Committee
-  Funds 

Supervisory 
Committee

Committees

-  Risk Committee 
-  IT Steering 

Committee 
-  Pricing and 

Product 
Committee 

-  Purchase 
Committee

Committees

-  Strategic Plan 
Steering 
Committee

Committees

-  ICAAP – ALCO  
Sub-committee

Committees

-  Management 
Credit 
Committee

-  Corporate 
Credit 
Committee

Committees

- NPCR
-  Provision 

Committee

Financial Risk 
(Market Risk) Unit

Operational 
Risk Unit

Strategic Risk 
Unit

Basel II
Credit Control 

Unit
Portfolio & 

Provision Unit

CEO & Chief General Manager / 
Deputy Chief General Manager

Risk Committees

Board Remuneration and 
Compensation Committee

Board of Directors
• Board Credit Committee
• Board Audit Committee
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General	Management	Committee,	MD’s	Risk	Review	Committee	and	HR	Committee	are	the	other	governance	bodies	that	facilitate	decision	making	and	
review process by senior management.

The	Bank’s	Risk	Management	Division	reports	directly	to	the	Bank’s	Deputy	Chairman	and	Managing	Director.	

The lines of business along with the support divisions, risk management division and the internal audit division comprise the three components that ensure 
effective	compliance	with	the	laid	down	control	processes	for	risk	management	in	the	Bank.	The	Risk	Management	Division,	with	the	active	support	of	top	
management, continuously seeks to instil a risk-conscious culture throughout the Bank.

Credit risk management
Credit risk arises from the potential financial loss resulting from customers failing to honour the terms of their contracts. It also includes the risk of loss in 
portfolio value as a result of credit quality migration from lower risk to higher risk categories. 

Credit	risk	is	the	most	significant	risk	the	Bank	is	exposed	to	and	proactive	management	ensures	the	Bank’s	long-term	success.	

The Bank has a comprehensive due diligence system for approving credit facilities and well-defined policies for controlling and managing credit risk at the 
counterparty, group, economic sector and country levels.

The	Bank	has	a	robust	system	of	borrowers’	risk	ratings	that	assesses	the	default	risk	of	corporate	borrowers.	The	credit	portfolio	is	classified	from	1	to	10		
one being excellent and 10 being bad. The borrower risk rating model takes into consideration key factors such as business trends, management, financials, 
collaterals,	etc.,	duly	weighted	to	arrive	at	the	rating.	Borrowers’	ratings	changes/migration	are	monitored	annually.	The	Bank	has	introduced	retail	risk	
rating by the soft launch of the retail scorecard, which also provides an end-to-end automated system for processing loans and credit cards.

All corporate and sovereign credit requires an independent credit risk review as per the risk management practice. Borrower exposures are controlled 
through exposure limits to them and wherever group exposure exceeds a stipulated limit, approval of the Board Credit Committee is required. Credit 
extended	to	the	Board	of	Directors	is	approved	strictly	in	accordance	with	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	requirements	and	executed	on	an	arm’s-length	basis.	

With	regard	to	credit	culture,	Risk	Management	ensures	that	appropriate	policies,	guidelines,	processes	and	procedures	exist	to	cover	all	business	areas	
where	credit	risk	arises.	It	also	ensures	the	consistent	application	of	the	Bank’s	credit-extending	standards	and	the	periodic	review	and	updating	of	credit	
policies, guidelines and procedures.

The policy sets limit criteria for individual exposures, group exposures, economic sector and countries. Business with any counterparty does not commence 
until a credit line has been approved. A strict credit approval process exists with authority levels delegated to ensure the efficient conduct of business. 

Risk	Management	ensures	that	credits	are	granted	according	to	the	approved	standards	and	that	all	risks	are	highlighted	in	the	credit	risk	review,	including	
policy exceptions. 

Credit	facility	risk	covers	analysing	and	reporting	on	the	nature	of	on-	and	off-balance	sheet	counterparty	exposure	(size,	tenor,	complexity	and	liquidity),	
including secured and unsecured credit facilities.

Portfolio risk arises because of high positive correlation between individual credit facilities, and default of one borrower can lead to several defaults by 
related borrowers who bear that correlation. This may include:

•	Concentration	of	exposure	in	geographical	areas,	sectors,	groups,	counterparties	or	rating	categories;	

•	Trend	analysis	in	volume,	sectors	and	concentration;	

•	Trends	in	portfolio	quality	(borrowers’	risk	migration,	non-performing	loan).	

The Bank monitors and reports to the Central Bank of Kuwait, on a quarterly basis, statements of all credit concentrations of 5 per cent or more in 
accordance	with	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	circular	dated	BSS/101/1995.	The	Bank	monitors	and	complies	with	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	instructions	that	
any	one	customer’s	liability	(cash	limits	or	exposures,	whichever	is	higher,	and	non-cash	liabilities)	and	its	related	parties	to	the	Bank	should	not	exceed	15	
per	cent	of	the	Bank’s	capital	as	defined	in	the	CBK	guidelines	under	BSS/101/1995.	The	Bank	complies	with	the	guidelines	of	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait	
with regard to credit disbursal/regulation to various sectors of the economy. 

33



Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk management (continued)
In addition to the above the Bank has prudent internal portfolio exposure limits to manage concentration in various sectors. Portfolio exposure analysis is 
performed at regular intervals to manage and contain the risk in various sectors. Whenever required, the Bank revises/limits its exposures to manage/contain 
risks. To mitigate risks arising from the financial crisis that affected the world economy at large, the Bank proactively reviewed portfolio exposures to various 
transaction types, counterparties, sectors, banks and countries, and revised exposure limits for managing risk.

Past due loans and non-performing loans are managed at business and management levels for a structured follow-up and recovery. The recovery is managed 
through a separate section which is responsible for the recovery of past dues as per management approved terms and conditions or as per court execution 
order, if the recovery process went through judicial process. The Bank manages the provisioning process on its past dues and NPLs through appropriate 
committees (as defined in the risk policy manual) to ensure provision against loan assets are taken on a fair basis, the specifics of the case, CBK guidelines 
and accounting practices.

For retail credit, the Bank has in place policies, controls and processes. Retail loans are originated through the branch network of the Bank. Retail loans that 
comply	with	policy	criteria	are	processed	when	approved	by	necessary	approving	authorities.	Exceptions	are	reviewed	independently	by	Risk	Management	
and approved by the appropriate credit committee. A separate Retail Lending Unit under Retail Banking reviews and ensures all necessary procedures and 
documentations are completed. The Bank also reviews the retail portfolio for deterioration and has mechanisms for loan and instalment collections when 
past due.

Under	Pillar	II	risks	the	concentration	risk	is	also	assessed	to	provide	capital	and	manage	the	concentration	risk	prudently.	CRM	risk	is	also	assessed	based	
on the quality of collateral, the liquidity, the volatility and the effectiveness of documentation etc.

Financial risk management

Market risk
Market	risk	is	the	risk	of	an	adverse	impact	on	the	value	of	assets,	liabilities	or	revenues	because	of	changes	in	market	conditions	or	movement	in	market	
rates	 or	 prices.	 Market-sensitive	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 are	 generated	 through	 loans,	 investments	 and	 deposits	 associated	 with	 the	 traditional	 banking	
business, as well as customer and proprietary trading operations. For measuring the market risk in the trading book, all positions are marked to market daily 
and	limits	are	approved	and	independently	monitored.	All	exposures	are	independently	monitored	by	Risk	Management	and	appropriate	limits	are	approved	
by	the	Asset	Liability	Management	Committee	(ALCO).

Market	risk	capital	is	also	assessed	under	Pillar	II	for	any	concentration	in	trading	positions,	illiquidity	in	the	markets,	positions	marked	to	model	etc.	

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign	 exchange	 risk	 represents	 the	 Bank’s	 exposures	 to	 fluctuations	 in	 the	 values	 of	 current	 holdings	 and	 future	 cash	 flows	 denominated	 in	 other	
currencies.	The	types	of	instruments	exposed	to	this	risk	include:	foreign	currency-denominated	loans,	future	cash	flows	in	foreign	currencies	arising	from	
foreign	exchange	transactions,	the	Bank’s	proprietary	positions,	and	customers’	foreign	exchange	transactions.	

Instruments used to mitigate this risk are foreign exchange spot, forwards, options etc. These instruments help to insulate the Bank against losses that may 
arise	due	to	significant	movements	in	foreign	exchange	rates.	All	foreign	exchange	exposures	are	centrally	managed	by	the	Bank’s	Treasury	and	are	daily	
marked to market. Limits have been assigned with respect to overnight open exposures, stop loss and authorised currencies to monitor and control foreign 
exchange exposures. The Bank also uses VaR and stress scenarios to quantify the foreign exchange risk. The VaR limits are monitored independently by risk 
management on a daily basis.
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Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk faced by the Bank arises on account of mismatch in re-pricing of loans and deposits. The majority of loans are re-priced in line with 
changes	in	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait’s	Discount	Rate;	however,	the	pricing	of	deposits	is	not	linked	to	the	CBK	Discount	Rate	and	hence	the	interest	rates	
on deposits do not get re-priced along with the re-pricing of loans. The mismatch that arises as a result gives rise to interest rate risk (basis risk). The other 
elements in the consolidated statement of financial position carrying interest rate risk are Treasury Bills and Bonds, Central Bank of Kuwait Bonds, and Debt 
securities	in	the	Bank’s	fixed	income	investment	portfolio.	

The	Bank’s	overall	goal	is	to	manage	interest	rate	sensitivity	so	that	movements	in	interest	rates	do	not	adversely	affect	the	Bank’s	net	interest	income.	
Interest rate risk is measured as the potential volatility in net interest income caused by changes in market interest rates. 

Exposures are quantified using interest rate re-pricing gaps. Earnings at risk limits are monitored and simulations used to estimate the impact of various interest 
rate	scenarios	on	the	Bank’s	net	interest	income.	These	simulations	incorporate	assumptions	of	asset	and	liability	re-pricing	and	maturity	characteristics.	
Exposures	against	limits	and	simulation	analysis	are	regularly	monitored	by	the	Asset	Liability	Management	Committee	(ALCO).	

Interest rate risk in the trading book is marked to market daily. The activity is monitored through notional exposure limits, stop loss limits and maximum 
maturity limits. 

Under Pillar II the Bank carries out an internal assessment of capital for interest rate risk in the banking book and allocates specific capital for this risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity is the ongoing ability to accommodate liability maturities and deposit withdrawals, fund asset growth and business operations, and meet contractual 
obligations through unconstrained access to funding at reasonable market rates.

The	Bank’s	projected	liquidity	needs	are	analysed	and	optimum	alternatives	to	manage	the	liquidity	risk	are	recommended.	The	Division	also	independently	
reviews	and	evaluates	the	Bank’s	ability	to	access	 liquidity	from	different	sources.	Risk	Management	 identifies	 liquidity	at	risk,	which	 is	monitored	and	
reported daily. Liquidity management policies and a contingency liquidity plan have been established. Liquidity stress testing is conducted to assess the 
impact of withdrawal of deposit, crystallisation of contingent liabilities etc. in the mild, medium and severe scenarios, both under bank-specific and systemic 
scenarios. The concentration in deposits is monitored on a regular basis and reviewed by ALCO. 

The	liquidity	risk	appetite	has	been	put	in	place	with	the	following	parameters.	Liquidity	risk	parameters	are	managed	under	the	balance	sheet	structure	–	
liquid assets, total assets, loans to deposits; cumulative negative maturity mismatch; funding source diversification; stress testing under severe scenario and 
capital consumption. These appetite parameters are used for driving liquidity risk and the exposure the Bank would be willing to take to manage risk levels 
within the appetite levels.

Under Pillar II the liquidity risk is assessed for bank-specific and general market scenarios, and capital provided to manage the risk.

Asset liability management risk
Risk	Management	plays	a	critical	role	in	assessing	the	risk	embedded	in	the	Bank’s	assets	and	liabilities.	It	recommends	measures	to	correct	any	imbalances	
in the financial position structure. 

Risk	Management’s	role	includes	assessing	overall	profitability	levels;	sources,	volatility	and	concentration	of	revenues;	effectiveness	in	pricing	to	cover	costs	
and risk; performance relative to the peer group; analysis of projected profitability including the sustainability of income sources; the impact of strategic 
initiatives, and the impact of anticipated changes in the operating environment. 

The variability of net interest income in different scenarios is monitored, aiming to maximise net interest income within acceptable risk levels. Balance sheet 
management is optimised by conducting balance sheet reviews for managing yields through optimal deployment of surplus liquidity, managing cost by 
focusing on low-cost deposits, and making recommendations to prudently manage cost of funds.
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Operational risk management
Operational	risk	is	defined	as	the	risk	of	loss	resulting	from	inadequate	or	failed	internal	processes,	people	and	systems,	or	from	external	events.	Managing	
this risk relies on identifying risks that exist within the organisation; the education of the Bank employees on the operational risks they encounter in the 
course of their duties; and ensuring that the control framework works effectively.

The Bank identifies and assesses the operational risk in products, activities, processes and systems. It also ensures that before any new products or services, 
activities, processes or systems are introduced, the associated operational risks are properly assessed and mitigated.

Risk identification is vital to the development of viable operational risk monitoring and control systems. Risk identification considers internal factors such as 
the	Bank’s	structure,	the	nature	of	its	activities,	the	quality	of	its	human	resources,	organisational	changes	and	employee	turnover.	It	also	examines	external	
factors such as changes in the industry, major political and economic changes, and technological advances. 

Operational Risk Models
The	Bank	has	developed	Operational	Risk	Models	(ORMs)	that	cover	key	risks	identified	in	the	Bank’s	business	and	support	areas	through	a	self-assessment	
exercise	and/or	other	risk	assessment	methods.	The	risks	highlighted	in	the	ORMs	are	discussed	with	the	respective	business	units	and	are	reviewed	by	the	
Risk Committee. 

The Bank has an operational risk VaR model to quantify its exposure by systematically tracking and recording the frequency and severity of individual error and 
loss events and other relevant information about them, and measures the losses through the operational risk VaR model. Under Pillar II remained operational 
risk is assessed using the VaR model to internally assess all material operational risks.

Legal risks are assessed as part of the operational risk VaR model, and capital is assessed based on the impact and likelihood of material legal risk issues.

The	Bank’s	 internal	error/loss	database	captures	material	activities	and	exposures.	 It	also	tracks	 individual	 internal	error/loss	data	 (actual	 loss,	potential	
loss, near misses and attempted frauds), mapping these into the relevant business lines. The Bank also collects information about the date of events and 
recoveries, as well as descriptive information about the causes and drivers of the loss events. The loss data events collected are analysed and any deficiencies 
in	the	Bank’s	processes	are	remedied.

Control and mitigation of operational risk
The Bank has established policies, processes and procedures to control and mitigate material operational risks. It periodically reviews risk limitation and 
control strategies and adjusts the operational risk profile accordingly, using appropriate strategies in light of its overall risk appetite and profile:

•		The	Bank	ensures	that	there	is	appropriate	segregation	of	duties,	and	personnel	are	not	assigned	responsibilities	that	may	create	a	conflict	of	interest	or	
enable them to conceal losses, errors or inappropriate actions.

•		Policies	for	managing	risks	associated	with	outsourcing	activities	have	been	established.	Outsourcing	arrangements	are	based	on	robust	contracts	and	
service level agreements that ensure a clear allocation of responsibilities between external service providers and the Bank. 

•		The	Bank	ensures	adequate	internal	audit	coverage	to	verify	that	operating	policies	and	procedures	have	been	implemented	effectively.	

•		The	Bank	has	an	independent	compliance	risk	unit	to	monitor	compliance	with	various	regulatory	and	internal	guidelines.

•		The	Bank	has	an	IT	Risk	Unit	to	ensure	adequate	IT	processes	and	controls	for	IT	systems	and	information	security	controls.

•		The	Bank	takes	insurance	cover	to	mitigate	operational	risk.	

•		The	Bank	has	a	Disaster	Recovery	Plan	and	a	Business	Continuity	Plan	in	place.	The	disaster	recovery	sites	are	regularly	tested	for	processing	transactions	
from the disaster site. 
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Strategic risk and reputation risk management
The	Bank	has	suitable	frameworks	covering	policy,	guidelines,	procedures	and	tools.	It	has	set	up	a	Strategic	Risk	Unit	in	the	Risk	Division	with	this	objective.	

Strategic risk  
Strategic	risk	is	defined	as	the	risk	of	current	or	prospective	negative	impact	on	the	Bank’s	earnings	or	capital,	reputation	or	standing	arising	from	changes	
in the environment the Bank operates in; adverse strategic decisions; improper implementation of decisions; or from lack of responsiveness to industry 
strength, economic stability or technology changes. The dependencies are:

•	Compatibility	of	the	Bank’s	strategic	goals;

•	Strategies	developed	to	achieve	those	goals;	

•	Planning	and	resources	allocated	to	meet	these	goals;	and

•	Quality	of	implementation	and	effectiveness	of	the	monitoring	framework.

The sources of strategic risk arise from an inadequate strategic governance framework; inadequate identification of factors that impact the strategy and/
or business plans; insufficient planning and resource allocation process; failure in execution of plans, loss of competitive edge due to erosion of technology 
or failure to replace resources that have run out; and issues related to economic stability and industry changes, including products, services and practices 
of the Bank.

The Bank seeks to manage its strategic risk through a strategic risk management framework that focuses on:

•	Integrating	the	budgeting	exercise	and	the	strategic	plan.

•		Strong	governance	structure	with	business	and	support	divisions	in	having	the	primary	responsibility	for	implementing	the	strategic	plan	and	Project	
Management	Office	governing	the	key	projects.

•	Independent	monitoring	of	the	plan	against	the	achieved	milestones.

•	Management	oversight	through	the	Strategic	Plan	Steering	Committee,	which	reviews	the	progress	and	performance	of	the	strategic	plan.

Under Pillar II the Bank assesses the strategic risk based on risk scorecards developed to assess strategic risk in terms of the strategic planning process and 
implementation of strategic initiatives.

Reputation risk 
Reputation	risk	is	defined	as	the	risk	of	current	or	prospective	negative	impact	on	the	Bank’s	earnings	or	capital	arising	from	damage	to	the	Bank’s	reputation	
in	the	perception	of	major	stakeholders.	The	Bank	seeks	to	manage	its	reputation	risk	through	a	Reputation	Risk	Management	framework	that	addresses:

•	Identifying	Key	Reputation	Risk	Indicators	(KRIs)	under	each	driver;

•	Establishing	the	roles	and	responsibilities	of	different	entities	in	the	reputation	risk	assessment	and	management	process;	and

•	Developing	a	formalised	and	structured	approach	for	managing	reputation	risk	of	the	Bank.

The Bank has identified various reputation risk indicators and has classified them under these 12 drivers. These KRIs are managed under customer satisfaction, 
financial soundness, corporate governance, management integrity, business practice, risk management and control environment, regulatory compliance, 
transparency, media and rumours, corporate culture, staff competence and crisis management. These parameters are used for assessing and managing 
reputation risk.

Under	Pillar	II	the	Bank	assesses	the	reputation	risk	based	on	reputation	risk	scorecards	developed	to	assess	risk	through	key	drivers	that	influence	reputation	
of the Bank in the perception of its significant stakeholders.
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Risk Management (continued)

Past due credit exposures
The Bank defines past due exposure in line with Central Bank of Kuwait guidelines. Accordingly, a cash facility will be considered irregular in the following 
circumstance:

•	If	the	overdraft	account	exceeds	10	per	cent	over	the	limit	continuously;

•	If	the	current	account	is	in	debit	balance	without	any	authorised	limit;

•	If	the	credit	facility	is	not	renewed/extended	on	expiry;

•	If	the	instalment	due	on	the	loan	has	not	been	repaid	on	its	due	date	and/or

•	If	the	interest	accrued	on	the	loan	has	not	been	settled	on	its	maturity	date.

Impaired facilities have been defined in significant accounting policies in the financial statements.

In	accordance	with	the	Bank’s	policy,	accounts	which	are	overdue	for	more	than	5	days	are	considered	as	past	dues.	The	Bank	provides	specific	and	general	
provisions based on Central Bank of Kuwait guidelines, as set out below; however, for branches outside, the regulations of respective jurisdictions apply. 

Specific provision 
The required minimum specific provision will be computed on the delinquent amount outstanding, based on the number of days of irregularity as shown below:

Irregular days Minimum required provisions

Between 91 days and 180 days 20%
Between 181 days and 365 days 50%
Over 365 days 100%

Specific	provisions	are	also	made	for	monitor	category	accounts,	using	management	judgement	and	discretion.	

General provision
The Bank provides general provision as mandated by Central Bank of Kuwait on all credit facilities to customers, net of certain restricted categories  
of collateral to which Central Bank of Kuwait instructions are applicable; however, for branches outside, the regulations of respective jurisdictions apply. 

The Bank also makes additional general provisions to cover the general credit and market risk inherent in the portfolio. To ensure that the credit risk  
is effectively managed, the Bank has a well-established and comprehensive credit risk management policy framework covering the entire credit spectrum, 
to ensure that non-performing loans are minimised.
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Bank’s Credit Risk Management Policy Framework:

The	Bank	uses	Standard	&	Poor’s,	Moody’s	and	Fitch	Ratings	for	claims	on	sovereign	and	bank	exposures.	The	Bank	chooses	the	higher	of	the	lowest	two	
ratings for assigning risk weight to an exposure.

The	Bank	adopts	the	following	mapping	notations	to	link	public	issue	ratings	with	comparable	assets	in	the	Bank’s	book.	It	uses	the	long-term	rating	for	
this mapping.

The Bank Internal Rating Banks/sovereign: S&P or equivalent

1-4 AAA to A-
5-7 BBB to B+
8-10 B- to D

Gross credit risk exposure (Gross outstanding before any risk mitigation)
Funded 

(KD’000s)
Unfunded 
(KD’000s)

Total 
(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 12,529 - 12,529
2. Claims on sovereigns 558,367 7,102 565,469
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 51,949 15,526 67,475
4. Claims on banks 320,025 613,870 933,895
5. Claims on corporate 1,131,767 555,886 1,687,653
6. Regulatory retail exposures 235,259 17,457 252,716
7. Past due exposures 86,470 111 86,581
8. Other exposures 678,471 3,342 681,813

Total 3,074,837 1,213,294 4,288,131

Policies, Procedures, 
and Guidelines

Credit 
Analysis Tools

Monitoring & 
Follow up

Lending 
DisciplineCredit Risk 

Management 
Framework

Risk Responsibility 
and Accountability

Credit Culture  
and Skills

Credit 
Control

Approval 
Authority

Pricing 
Model

Credit Risk 
Measurement 
Techniques

Portfolio 
Approach
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Gross credit risk exposure – average balance (Gross outstanding before any risk mitigation)
Funded 

(KD’000s)
Unfunded 
(KD’000s)

Total 
(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 13,528 - 13,528
2. Claims on sovereigns 546,782 7,615 554,397
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 62,209 9,915 72,124
4. Claims on banks 332,931 591,381 924,312
5. Claims on corporate 1,150,975 545,218 1,696,193
6. Regulatory retail exposures 223,029 17,034 240,063
7. Past due exposures 79,184 568 79,752
8. Other exposures 715,434 3,749 719,183

Total 3,124,172 1,175,480 4,299,552

Geographic distribution – all exposures

Domestic 
(Kuwait)

(KD’000s)

Other 
Middle East

(KD’000s)
 Europe

(KD’000s)
 USA

(KD’000s)

Rest of 
World

(KD’000s)
 Total

(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 12,083 446 - - - 12,529
2. Claims on sovereigns 550,652 14,817 - - - 565,469
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 7,526 59,949 - - - 67,475
4. Claims on banks 55,431 226,383 345,302 4,702 302,077 933,895
5. Claims on corporate 1,424,758 240,255 12,436 - 10,204 1,687,653
6. Regulatory retail exposures 246,817 5,899 - - - 252,716
7. Past due exposures 86,581 - - - - 86,581
8. Other exposures 635,708 44,848 - 437 820 681,813

Total 3,019,556 592,597 357,738 5,139 313,101 4,288,131

Geographic distribution – funded exposures

Domestic 
(Kuwait)

(KD’000s)

Other 
Middle East

(KD’000s)
Europe

(KD’000s)
USA

(KD’000s)

Rest of 
World

(KD’000s)
Total

(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 12,083 446 - - - 12,529
2. Claims on sovereigns 544,956 13,411 - - - 558,367
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 6,702 45,247 - - - 51,949
4. Claims on banks 54,992 130,261 85,767 2,949 46,056 320,025
5. Claims on corporate 981,077 149,565 1,125 - - 1,131,767
6. Regulatory retail exposures 234,377 882 - - - 235,259
7. Past due exposures 86,470 - - - - 86,470
8. Other exposures 632,366 44,848 - 437 820 678,471

Total 2,553,023 384,660 86,892 3,386 46,876 3,074,837
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Geographic distribution – unfunded exposures

Domestic 
(Kuwait)

(KD’000s)

Other 
Middle East

(KD’000s)
 Europe

(KD’000s)
 USA

(KD’000s)

Rest of 
World

(KD’000s)
 Total

(KD’000s)

1. Claims on sovereigns 5,696 1,406 - - - 7,102
2.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 823 14,703 - - - 15,526
3. Claims on banks 439 96,122 259,535 1,753 256,021 613,870
4. Claims on corporate 443,681 90,690 11,311 - 10,204 555,886
5. Regulatory retail exposures 12,440 5,017 - - - 17,457
6. Past due exposures 111 - - - - 111
7. Other exposures 3,342 - - - - 3,342

Total 466,533 207,937 270,846 1,753 266,225 1,213,294

Gross credit exposure – residual contractual maturity

Less than 
1 Month

 (KD’000s)

1 Month to 
1 Year

 (KD’000s)

1 Year to 
5 Years 

(KD’000s)

Over 
5 Years 

(KD’000s)
 Total 

(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 12,529 - - - 12,529
2. Claims on sovereigns 199,456 286,419 75,594 5,000 565,469
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 2,902 31,216 33,357 - 67,475
4. Claims on banks 267,784 384,988 254,217 26,906 933,895
5. Claims on corporate 375,649 999,952 282,146 29,906 1,687,653
6. Regulatory retail exposures 14,002 41,860 38,823 158,031 252,716
7. Past due exposures 86,581 - - - 86,581
8. Other exposures 114,331 377,022 156,196 34,264 681,813

Total 1,073,234 2,121,457 839,333 254,107 4,288,131

Impaired credit facilities and provision – by category
NPL 

(KD’000s)

Specific 
provision 
(KD’000s)

 General 
provision 
(KD’000s)

Specific 
provision charge 

(KD’000s)

1. Claims on corporate 114,054 27,996 130,789 22,634
2. Regulatory retail exposures 941 409 1,927 298

Total 114,995 28,405 132,716 22,932

Impaired credit facilities and provision – by geographic area
NPL 

(KD’000s)

Specific 
provision 
(KD’000s)

General 
provision 
(KD’000s)

Domestic (Kuwait) 114,995 28,405 130,622
Other	Middle	East - - 1,976
Europe - - 68
Rest of World - - 50

Total 114,995 28,405 132,716
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Movement in provisions for credit facilities impairment
Funded 

(KD’000s)
Unfunded 
(KD’000s)

 Total 
(KD’000s)

Provisions as on 1 January 2012 121,982 15,048 137,030
Exchange difference 49 3 52
Amounts written off during the year (18,301) - (18,301)
Recoveries 1,370 - 1,370
Charge / (Release) for the year 42,943 (1,973) 40,970

Provisions as at 31st December 2012 148,043 13,078 161,121

 Risk weighted exposure post credit conversion and risk mitigation
Rated 

(KD’000s)
Unrated 

(KD’000s)
Total 

(KD’000s)

1.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 9,751 - 9,751
2. Claims on banks 196,980 963 197,943
3. Claims on corporate 704 970,007 970,711
4. Regulatory retail exposures - 236,755 236,755
5. Past due exposures - 32,279 32,279
6. Other exposures - 342,425 342,425

Total 207,435 1,582,429 1,789,864

Credit risk mitigation
The policies and processes for on- and off-balance sheet netting (and the extent to which the Bank makes use of them); policies and processes for collateral 
valuation and management; and a description of the main types of collateral taken are described below.

Credit	 risk	 mitigation	 (CRM)	 encompasses	 collateral	 management,	 credit	 guarantee	 and	 netting	 arrangements.	 Netting	 techniques	 are	 currently	 not	
employed	as	a	CRM	technique.

However,	the	Bank	has	 in	place	a	system	of	collateral	valuation	and	management.	All	 listed	equity	collateral	 is	valued	daily,	 for	the	collateral	coverage	
determination. To manage the concentration risk of equity collateral, the Bank has a stipulated percentage of paid-up capital of the company as the 
maximum that can be accepted as collateral.

To manage the quality of quoted equity collateral, the equity shares have been graded in four groups based on the liquidity and financial strength of the 
equity, with Grade I representing high quality. The required collateral coverage increases from Grade I to Grade IV.

In respect of real estate collateral, two valuations are obtained of which one will be the valuator approved by CBK. The average of the two valuations will 
be considered. Real estate collateral is valued each year. 

The Bank normally accepts the following types of collateral: 

•		Equity	shares	and	funds

•		Cash	margins	and	fixed	deposits

•	Real	estate	comprising	income-producing	and	non	income-producing	assets.	

Among the other risk mitigants, the Bank also insists on assignment of insurance on inventories, plants and machinery. The Bank also accepts unlisted equity, 
guarantees of individuals, corporates and banks based on their creditworthiness and rating grades.
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Collateralised credit exposure with eligible collateral

Gross Credit 
Exposure
 (KD’000s)

Collateralised 
Exposure 
(KD’000s)

Financial 
Collaterals 

(KD’000s)

Bank 
Guarantees 

(KD’000s)
Real Estate 

(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 12,529 - - - -
2. Claims on sovereigns 565,469 - - - -
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 67,475 11,257 4 9,000 -
4. Claims on banks 933,895 - - - -
5. Claims on corporate 1,687,653 824,172 320,726 42,744 64,387
6. Regulatory retail exposures 252,716 17,227 6,190 - 148
7. Past due exposures 86,581 60,498 1,744 - 35,685
8. Other exposures 681,813 514,146 158,825 - 244,765

Total 4,288,131 1,427,300 487,489 51,744 344,985

Credit risk exposure after credit conversion factor and CRM
Before CRM 

(KD’000s)
CRM 

(KD’000s)
Net exposure 

(KD’000s)

1. Cash items 12,529 - 12,529
2. Claims on sovereigns 558,438 - 558,438
3.	Claims	on	public	sector	entities	(PSEs) 59,482 (9,004) 50,478
4a.	Claims	on	banks	–	rated 481,117 - 481,117
4b.	Claims	on	banks	–	unrated 3,340 - 3,340
5. Claims on corporate 1,401,383 (427,857) 973,526
6. Regulatory retail exposures 244,949 (6,338) 238,611
7. Past due exposures 86,525 (37,429) 49,096
8. Other exposures 680,163 (403,590) 276,573

Total 3,527,926 (884,218) 2,643,708

Market risk for trading portfolio, foreign exchange and commodities exposures
The Bank uses a standardised approach for measuring the market risk of its portfolio consisting of FX, equity and derivative instruments.

Capital requirements for market risk exposures
Required capital 

(KD’000s)

1. Equities position risk 126
2. Foreign exchange risk 67

Minimum capital required for market risk 193
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Risk Management (continued)

Operational risk
The Bank uses a standardised approach to measure operational risk. The profit for each business line is determined using the transfer pricing methodology 
followed by the Bank. The mapping policy provides detailed guidelines on the mapping of business income into eight standard business lines. 

The	Bank’s	mapping	policy	has	been	approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors.

Capital requirements for operational risk
Required capital 

(KD’000s)

1. Trading and sales 881
2. Commercial banking 12,861
3. Retail banking 2,496
4. Asset management 30

Minimum capital required for operational risk 16,268

Equity position in the banking book
At the time of making any investment, the Bank decides whether it is a strategic investment or an investment made to realise a capital gain. This decision  
is taken based on a detailed due diligence and number of factors such as the percentage of the investment, strategic advantage to the Bank etc. 

The	Bank’s	holdings	of	listed	equity	are	valued	based	on	the	closing	bid	price.	For	unquoted	shares,	the	valuation	conforms	to	IAS	39	requirements.	All	
investments require the approval of the Investment Committee or the Board Credit Committee, depending on the amount of exposure. The accounting 
techniques and valuation methodologies used, including key assumptions used in the valuation, are disclosed in the significant accounting policies note to the 
financials. The types and nature of investments classified as publicly traded and privately held are disclosed in note 6 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Equity risk is monitored by specifying the maximum asset allocation as a percentage of loans and advances. The Bank has also put in place sector, market 
and stop loss limits. 

Comprehensive due diligence is carried out for unlisted equities. A maximum portfolio limit is established for unlisted equity exposure. Each month a 
comprehensive portfolio report is presented to the Board Credit Committee on the performance of the equity investment portfolio and its compliance with 
the	various	limits	laid	down	in	the	Bank’s	investment	policy.	

Total value of investments disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position
Total 

(KD’000s)
Quoted 

(KD’000s)
Unquoted 
(KD’000s)

Investment	securities	–	available	for	sale 188,757 127,009 61,748

Total Investment gains
Total

(KD’000s)

Realised gains recorded in the consolidated statement of income 1,993
Unrealised	gains	recorded	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	changes	in	shareholders’	equity 25,205

45% of the above included in Tier 2 Capital 11,342

Capital requirement for the investments
Capital requirement 

(KD’000s)

Investment securities available for sale 12,298
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Interest rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB)
The nature of IRRBB, key assumptions and frequency of IRRBB measurement are set out below.

Interest	rate	risk	is	limited	as	a	majority	of	KD	loans	are	re-priced	with	any	change	in	the	Central	Bank	of	Kuwait’s	Discount	Rate.	However,	the	pricing	
of deposits is not linked to the CBK Discount Rate and hence the interest rates on deposits do not get re-priced along with the re-pricing of loans. The 
mismatch that arises as a result gives rise to interest rate risk (basis risk). The other elements in the consolidated statement of financial position carrying 
interest rate risk are Treasury Bonds, Central Bank of Kuwait Bonds, and Debt securities in the investment portfolio. 

Deposits	are	re-priced	based	on	their	final	maturity	or,	if	linked	to	a	floating	rate	index,	on	the	re-pricing	date.	Deposits	that	are	insensitive	to	interest	rate	
movements	are	categorised	separately.	The	earnings	at	risk	are	calculated	based	on	interest	rate	re-pricing	gaps.	Simulation	analysis	is	also	conducted	under	
different interest rate scenarios. The impact is quantified at regular intervals. Exposures against limits and simulation analysis are regularly monitored by 
the	Asset	and	Liability	Management	Committee	(ALCO).	The	Bank	hedges	the	interest	rate	risk	in	the	banking	book,	where	appropriate,	by	using	derivative	
instruments	like	interest	rate	swaps,	etc.	Hedging	is	done	in	the	same	currency	and	covers	the	period	of	the	underlying	transaction.	

Interest rate risk in banking book (IRRBB) (KD’000s)

1bp sensitivity in KD book 65

1bp	sensitivity	in	USD	book 21

The Bank recognises the need to be transparent and has implemented a comprehensive corporate governance and disclosure policy. It has made maximum 
public disclosure to enable stakeholders to assess the risk profile of the Bank; to assess the risk measurement and management techniques used; and to 
make	informed	decisions	when	dealing	with	the	Bank.	The	Bank	has	detailed	a	comprehensive	risk	framework	in	compliance	with	the	BIS	II	accord	and	
identified key risks detailing the measurement and monitoring techniques under each risk area.
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Statement of income
During 2012, the difficult trading environment of 2011 continued to prevail. The continued delay in government spending adversely impacted economic 
recovery prospects and the prevalent lower interest rate environment negatively impacted profitability within the local banking industry. Despite these 
challenging conditions our Bank still managed to sustain our operating profits at KD 80.4 million, marginally above 2011. However, our net profits were down 
at KD 30 million, mainly on account of precautionary provisions taken to protect against unexpected market events in these uncertain times. The Earnings per 
Share amounted to 20 fils, and the Return on Assets (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE) were 1 per cent and 6 per cent respectively. 

The Bank still achieved a net interest income of KD 84.3 million, marginally lower than 2011 net interest income of KD 84.8 million, by employing effective 
balance sheet and interest rate management strategies, and growing its lower cost customer deposit base to reduce cost of funds, a commendable performance 
considering the interest rate environment which prevailed during 2012. Additionally, fee, investment and foreign exchange incomes increased by 4.4 per cent 
to KD 32.13 million over 2011 in spite of limited trading activities.

Operating expenses were successfully contained at KD 36 million, even though we continued to invest in our infrastructure and resources to improve customer 
service capability and maintain our competitive position by improving our operational efficiencies. Consequently, our cost to income ratio at 31 per cent 
remained at 2011 levels and is comparable with the best in the industry.

Overall the Bank managed to maintain profitability even in these difficult market conditions. Further, with capital adequacy levels in excess of 25 per cent the 
Bank has a strong capital position and financial resilience to cope with any market contingencies.

Balance sheet
The total assets of the Bank at the end of 2012 remained relatively stable at KD 2.973 billon compared to KD 3.079 billion in 2011. Lending opportunities 
remained limited in 2012, and our net loans and advances declined to KD 1.987 billion in 2012 from KD 2.066 billion at the end of 2011. The non-performing 
loans portfolio at the end of 2012 amounted to KD 112.1 million, increasing from KD 91.4 million in 2011. Overall the non-performing loans remained stable 
given the market conditions and are adequately collateralised. 

The Bank has been compliant with all Central Bank of Kuwait regulatory ratios during 2012.

Appropriations and distributions
The net profit is appropriated as follows:

1. KD 3.170 million transferred to statutory reserve as per Commercial Companies Law of Kuwait.

2. KD 3.170 million transferred to general reserve as per Articles of Association.

3. The balance of KD 23.687 million transferred to retained earnings.

The directors have recommended distribution of profit to shareholders, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, to be 
distributed from retained earnings as follows:

1. KD 9.078 million as cash dividend of 6 fils per share.

2.  KD 10.593 million by way of issue of 105,926,763 bonus shares with nominal value of 100 fils per share, equivalent to 7 per cent of the issued and paid  
up capital.

Directors’ Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AL AHLI BANK OF KUWAIT K.S.C.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait K.S.C. (the Bank) and its Subsidiary (together “the Group”), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012 and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate for the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2012, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Bank and the consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the 
report of the Bank’s Board of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all 
the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that 
is required by the Capital Adequacy Regulations issued by Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”) as stipulated in CBK Circular No. 2/BS/184/2005 dated 21 December 
2005, as amended, the Commercial Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, and by the Bank’s Articles of Association; that an inventory was duly carried out and that, 
to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of Capital Adequacy Regulations issued by the CBK as stipulated in CBK Circular No. 2/BS/184/2005 dated 
21 December 2005, as amended, the Commercial Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, nor of the Articles of Association have occurred during the year ended 31 
December 2012 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Group or on its financial position. 

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any material violations of the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, 
concerning currency, the CBK and the organisation of banking business, and its related regulations during the year ended 31 December 2012.

WALEED A. AL OSAIMI 
LICENCE NO. 68 A 
OF ERNST & YOUNG

15 January 2013
Kuwait

JASSIM AHMAD AL-FAHAD 
LICENCE NO. 53 A 
DELOITTE
AL-FAHAD, AL WAZZAN & CO.

Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders

Deloitte & Touche  

Al-Fahad, Al Wazzan & Co.
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Notes
2012

(KD’000s)
2011

(KD’000s)

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 3 251,477 317,728
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds 4 211,775 237,048
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds 4 259,654 199,828
Loans and advances 5, 22 1,986,869 2,066,379
Investment securities 6 189,545 191,658
Investment in an associate 7 10,772 -
Other assets 8 33,734 38,299
Premises and equipment 9 29,193 28,861

TOTAL ASSETS 2,973,019 3,079,801

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and other financial institutions 557,740 422,991
Customers’ deposits 1,838,673 2,102,433
Other liabilities 10 59,871 63,434

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,456,284 2,588,858

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 11 151,324 144,118
Proposed bonus shares 11 10,593 7,206
Share premium 11 108,897 108,897
Treasury shares 11 (118) (8,556)
Reserves 11 236,961 217,884
Proposed dividend 11 9,078 21,394

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 516,735 490,943

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2,973,019 3,079,801

Ahmed Yousuf Behbehani
Chairman

Ali Hilal Al Mutairi
Deputy Chairman and Managing Director

Colin Plowman
Chief General Manager and  
Chief Executive Officer

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2012

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes
2012

(KD’000s)
2011

(KD’000s)

Interest income 12 117,607 121,381
Interest expense 13 (33,289) (36,551)

NET INTEREST INCOME 84,318 84,830

Net fees and commission income 14 23,420 24,472
Net foreign exchange gain 3,397 3,289
Net gain (loss) on investment securities 1,612 (901)
Dividend income 1,891 3,045
Share of results from an associate 7 667 - 
Other income 1,144 865

OPERATING INCOME 116,449 115,600

Staff expenses (23,291) (23,370)
Other operating expenses and depreciation (12,745) (12,628)

OPERATING EXPENSES (36,036) (35,998)

OPERATING PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE PROVISIONS / IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 80,413 79,602
Provision / impairment losses 15 (47,361) (25,113)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AFTER PROVISIONS / IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 33,052 54,489

Directors’ fees (280) (265)
Taxation 16 (2,745) (3,888)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 30,027 50,336

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 17 20 fils 34 fils

Consolidated Income Statement 
Year ended 31 December 2012

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 30,027 50,336

Other comprehensive income

Effect of changes in fair values of investments available for sale 5,902 (1,274)
Net gain on sale / impairment losses on investments available for sale 666 2,343
Revaluation of freehold land 499 (451)
Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations 62 27

Other comprehensive income for the year 7,129 645

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 37,156 50,981

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2012

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

50  ABK Annual Report 2012



R
es

er
ve

s

Sh
ar

e
ca

pi
ta

l
(K

D
’0

00
s)

P
ro

po
se

d
bo

nu
s

sh
ar

es
(K

D
’0

00
s)

Sh
ar

e
pr

em
iu

m
(K

D
’0

00
s)

Tr
ea

su
ry

sh
ar

es
(K

D
’0

00
s)

St
at

ut
or

y
re

se
rv

e
(K

D
’0

00
s)

G
en

er
al

re
se

rv
e

(K
D

’0
00

s)

Tr
ea

su
ry

sh
ar

es
re

se
rv

e
(K

D
’0

00
s)

C
um

ul
at

iv
e

ch
an

ge
s 

in
fa

ir 
va

lu
e

(K
D

’0
00

s)

P
ro

pe
rt

y
re

va
lu

at
io

n
su

rp
lu

s
(K

D
’0

00
s)

Fo
re

ig
n

cu
rr

en
cy

tr
an

sl
at

io
n

re
se

rv
e

(K
D

’0
00

s)

R
et

ai
ne

d
ea

rn
in

gs
(K

D
’0

00
s)

To
ta

l
re

se
rv

es
(K

D
’0

00
s)

P
ro

po
se

d
di

vi
de

nd
(K

D
’0

00
s)

To
ta

l
(K

D
’0

00
s)

Ba
la

nc
e 

as
 a

t 1
 Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

11
14

4,
11

8
-

10
8,

89
7

(8
,4

10
)

48
,4

13
47

,9
66

6,
47

3
17

,5
68

5,
48

7
(6

7)
69

,6
61

19
5,

50
1

28
,5

30
46

8,
63

6

N
et

 p
ro

fit
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
50

,3
36

50
,3

36
-

50
,3

36
O

th
er

 c
om

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e 
(e

xp
en

se
) f

or
 t

he
 y

ea
r

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
1,

06
9

(4
51

)
27

-
64

5
-

64
5

To
ta

l c
om

pr
eh

en
siv

e 
in

co
m

e 
(e

xp
en

se
) f

or
 th

e 
ye

ar
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

1,
06

9
(4

51
)

27
50

,3
36

50
,9

81
-

50
,9

81

D
iv

id
en

d 
pa

id
 

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(2
8,

52
8)

(2
8,

52
8)

D
iv

id
en

d 
on

 tr
ea

su
ry

 s
ha

re
s 

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

2
2

(2
)

-
Tr

ea
su

ry
 s

ha
re

s 
pu

rc
ha

se
d

-
-

-
(1

46
)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
(1

46
)

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
to

 re
se

rv
es

 
-

-
-

-
5,

29
3

5,
29

3
-

-
-

-
(1

0,
58

6)
-

-
-

Pr
op

os
ed

 b
on

us
 s

ha
re

s 
(N

ot
e 

11
)

-
7,

20
6

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(7
,2

06
)

(7
,2

06
)

-
-

Pr
op

os
ed

 d
iv

id
en

d 
(N

ot
e 

11
)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(2
1,

39
4)

(2
1,

39
4)

21
,3

94
-

Ba
la

nc
e 

as
 a

t 3
1 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

1
14

4,
11

8
7,

20
6

10
8,

89
7

(8
,5

56
)

53
,7

06
53

,2
59

6,
47

3
18

,6
37

5,
03

6
(4

0)
80

,8
13

21
7,

88
4

21
,3

94
49

0,
94

3

N
et

 p
ro

fit
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
30

,0
27

30
,0

27
-

30
,0

27
O

th
er

 c
om

pr
eh

en
siv

e 
in

co
m

e 
 

fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
6,

56
8

49
9

62
-

7,
12

9
-

7,
12

9

To
ta

l c
om

pr
eh

en
siv

e 
in

co
m

e 
 

fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
6,

56
8

49
9

62
30

,0
27

37
,1

56
-

37
,1

56
Iss

ue
 o

f b
on

us
 s

ha
re

s 
(N

ot
e 

11
)

7,
20

6
(7

,2
06

)
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
D

iv
id

en
d 

pa
id

 (N
ot

e 
11

)
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
(2

1,
39

4)
(2

1,
39

4)
Tr

ea
su

ry
 s

ha
re

s 
pu

rc
ha

se
d

-
-

-
(1

04
)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
(1

04
)

Tr
ea

su
ry

 s
ha

re
s 

so
ld

 (N
ot

e 
11

)
-

-
-

8,
54

2
-

-
1,

59
2

-
-

-
-

1,
59

2
-

10
,1

34
Tr

an
sf

er
s 

to
 r

es
er

ve
s 

-
-

-
-

3,
17

0
3,

17
0

-
-

-
-

(6
,3

40
)

-
-

-
Pr

op
os

ed
 b

on
us

 s
ha

re
s 

(N
ot

e 
11

)
-

10
,5

93
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
(1

0,
59

3)
(1

0,
59

3)
-

-
Pr

op
os

ed
 d

iv
id

en
d 

(N
ot

e 
11

)
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
(9

,0
78

)
(9

,0
78

)
9,

07
8

-

Ba
la

nc
e 

as
 a

t 3
1 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

2
15

1,
32

4
10

,5
93

10
8,

89
7

(1
18

)
56

,8
76

56
,4

29
8,

06
5

25
,2

05
5,

53
5

22
84

,8
29

23
6,

96
1

9,
07

8
51

6,
73

5

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 S
ta

te
m

en
t o

f C
ha

ng
es

 in
 S

ha
re

ho
ld

er
s’

 E
qu

it
y 

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
12

Th
e 

at
ta

ch
ed

 n
ot

es
 1

 t
o 

25
 f

or
m

 p
ar

t 
of

 t
he

se
 c

on
so

lid
at

ed
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
.

51



2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit for the year 30,027 50,336
Adjustments for:
 Net (gain) loss on sale of investments available for sale (1,993) 250
 Dividend income (1,891) (3,045)
 Share of results from an associate (667) - 
 Depreciation 1,595 1,514
 Provisions / impairment losses 43,629 25,113

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities 70,700 74,168

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Deposits with banks 16,803 (18,695)
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds 25,273 21,952
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds (59,826) (69,910)
Loans and advances 36,567 (84,553)
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 777 630
Other assets 5,137 (5,677)
Due to banks and other financial institutions 134,749 25,657
Customers’ deposits (263,760) 80,381
Other liabilities (1,590) 4,083

Net cash flows (used in) from operating activities (35,170) 28,036

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments available for sale (68,202) (51,702)
Proceeds from sale of investments available for sale 64,763 37,415
Net purchase of premises and equipments (1,428) (1,366)
Dividend income received 1,891 3,045

Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,976) (12,608)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid (21,394) (28,528)
Purchase of treasury shares (104) (146)
Sale of treasury shares 10,134 - 

Net cash flows used in financing activities (11,364) (28,674)

Foreign currency translation difference 62 27

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (49,448) (13,219)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 216,506 229,725

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 167,058 216,506

Cash and cash equivalent comprise: 
Cash in hand and in current account with other banks 32,236 33,838
Balances with the Central Bank of Kuwait 73,181 104,585
Deposits with banks with original maturity of thirty days 61,641 78,083

167,058 216,506

Interest received in 2012 was KD 120,788 thousand (2011: KD 114,598 thousand) and interest paid in 2012 was KD 34,458 thousand (2011: KD 35,370 thousand). 

Consolidated Statement of Cashflows
Year ended 31 December 2012

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1 INCORPORATION AND REGISTRATION

Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait K.S.C. (“the Bank”) is a public shareholding company incorporated in Kuwait on 23 May 1967 and is registered as a Bank with the 
Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK). Its registered office is at Al Safat Square, Ahmed Al Jaber Street, Kuwait City. It is engaged in banking, primarily in Kuwait, 
and in the United Arab Emirates. 

The Bank has a wholly owned subsidiary, Ahli Capital Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed) (“the Subsidiary”) and is engaged in investment management 
and advisory activities, regulated by the Capital Markets Authority, Kuwait (CMA). 

These consolidated financial statements of the Bank and its Subsidiary (collectively “the Group”) were approved for issue by the Bank’s Board of Directors 
on 15 January 2013. The annual general assembly of the shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after issuance.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by CBK. These 
regulations require adoption of all IFRS except for the IAS 39 requirement for collective provision, which has been replaced by CBK’s requirement for a 
minimum general provision as described under the accounting policy for impairment of financial assets.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of “investment securities”, “freehold 
land” and “derivative financial instruments”.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars, which is the Bank’s functional currency, rounded to the nearest thousand 
except when otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its Subsidiary. The financial statement of the Subsidiary is prepared 
for the same reporting year as the Bank using consistent accounting policies. 

Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and 
operating policies of the entity generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date on which the Group obtains control and continues to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

All material intra-group balances and transactions, including material unrealised gains and losses arising on intra-group transactions are eliminated on 
consolidation.

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies are consistent with those used in the previous year except for the adoption of policy on investment in an associate. 

Standards issued but not yet effective
The following IASB Standards have been issued but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. This listing of standards and 
interpretations issued are those that the Group reasonably expects to have an impact on disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a 
future date. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they become effective.

IAS 1 Financial Statement Presentation
The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income. Items that could be reclassified (or ‘recycled’) to profit 
or loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or settlement) would be presented separately from items that will never be reclassified. 
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2012
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2012

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’
The standard was issued in November 2009 and becomes effective for annual years beginning on or after 1 January 2015. IFRS 9 improves the ability of 
the users of the financial statement to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows of the entity by replacing many financial instrument 
classification categories, measurement and associated impairment methods. The application of IFRS 9 will result in amendments and additional disclosures 
relating to financial instruments and associated risks. 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10, which will be effective 1 January 2013, replaces the consolidation guidance in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-
12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities by introducing a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, irrespective of the nature of 
the investee (i.e., whether an entity is controlled through voting rights of investors or through other contractual arrangements as is common in special 
purpose entities). Under IFRS 10, control is based on whether an investor has 1) power over the investee; 2) exposure or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and 3) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the returns. The Bank will assess and quantify 
the impact as on the date of adoption depending on the relationship between the Bank and other entities as on that date.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12, which will be effective 1 January 2013, requires enhanced disclosures about both consolidated entities and unconsolidated entities in which an 
entity has involvement. The objective of IFRS 12 is to require information so that financial statement users may evaluate the basis of control, any restrictions 
on consolidated assets and liabilities, risk exposures arising from involvements with unconsolidated structured entities and non-controlling interest holders’ 
involvement in the activities of consolidated entities. The Bank will assess and quantify the impact as on the date of adoption depending on the relationship 
between the Bank and other entities as on that date.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13, which will be effective 1 January 2013, replaces the guidance on fair value measurement in existing IFRS with a single standard. IFRS 13 defines 
fair value, provides guidance on how to determine fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. However, IFRS 13 does not change 
the requirements regarding which items should be measured or disclosed at fair value.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011)
As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IAS 28 Investments in Associates, has been 
renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the equity method to investments in joint ventures in 
addition to associates. The revised standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The application of the above standards is not expected to have a material impact on the financial position or performance of the Group as and when they 
become effective or early adopted, except for IFRS 9 and IFRS 13 which will result in amendments and/or additional disclosures relating to classification, 
measurement and associated risks of financial instruments.

Financial Instruments

Classification of financial instruments
The Group classifies financial instruments as “loans and receivables”, “investment securities”, and “financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit 
or loss”. Investment securities comprise of “investments at fair value through profit or loss” and “investments available-for-sale”. Management determines 
the appropriate classification of each instrument at the time of acquisition.

Recognition
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way 
purchase and sale of financial assets are recognised using settlement date accounting i.e. the date the Group receives or delivers the assets. Changes in fair 
value between the trade date and settlement date are recognised in the consolidated income statement or in other comprehensive income in accordance 
with the policy applicable to the related instrument. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the time frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the market place. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

De-recognition
A financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognised either when: 

•	the	contractual	rights	to	receive	the	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	or

•		the	Group	retains	the	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	assets	but	has	assumed	an	obligation	to	pay	them	in	full	without	material	delay	to	a	third	party	
under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or

•	the	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	and	either	
 - has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
 - has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset 
and the maximum amount of consideration that the bank would be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

Initial measurement
All financial assets or financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are added to the cost of all financial instruments except for 
financial assets classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs on financial assets classified as investments at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables
These are non-derivative financial assets having fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. These are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method adjusted for effective fair value hedges less any provision for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortisation 
is included in “Interest income” in the consolidated income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated income 
statement under “Provisions/impairment losses”.

Cash and balances with banks, Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds, Central Bank of Kuwait bonds, loans and advances and certain other assets 
are classified as “loans and receivables”.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: investments held for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. An investment 
is classified as held for trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Investments are designated at fair 
value through profit or loss in accordance with a documented investment strategy and reported to key management personnel on that basis. These are 
subsequently measured at fair value and any resultant gains or losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement. The Group has not designated 
any investments as ‘those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception’ upon initial recognition. 

Investments available for sale 
These are non-derivative financial assets either designated as “available for sale” or are not classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss or 
loans and receivables. These are subsequently measured at fair value and any resultant gains or losses are recognised through other comprehensive income. 
When the asset is disposed of, or impaired, the related accumulated fair value adjustments are transferred to the consolidated income statement. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss
These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Due to banks and other financial institutions, customers’ deposits 
and other liabilities are classified as “financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss”.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivatives include interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value 
on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives with positive fair values (unrealised 
gains) are included in other assets and derivatives with negative fair values (unrealised losses) are included in other liabilities in the consolidated statement 
of financial position. For hedges, which do not qualify for hedge accounting and for “held for trading” derivatives, any gains or losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated income statement.

The Group makes use of derivative financial instruments to manage exposures to interest rate and foreign currency risks. Certain derivatives embedded 
in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host 
contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with the changes in 
fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

In order to manage particular risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions, which meet the specified criteria. At inception of the hedge 
relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk, the 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

Also at the inception of the hedge relationship, a formal assessment is undertaken to ensure that the hedging instrument is expected to be highly effective 
in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged item. Hedges are formally assessed at each reporting date. A hedge is regarded as highly effective if the 
changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the year for which the hedge is designated are expected to offset in a range of 
80 per cent to 125 per cent.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories: (a) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value 
of a recognised asset or liability; and (b) cash flow hedges, which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Fair value hedge
In relation to fair value hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any unrealised gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument to 
fair value is recognised in ‘Other assets’ or ‘Other liabilities’ and in the consolidated income statement. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to 
the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying value of the hedged item and recognised in the consolidated income statement.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the hedge 
relationship is terminated.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Cash flow hedge
When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a 
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
the derivative is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income is removed and included in the consolidated income statement in the same year as the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss under 
the same income statement line item as the hedged item. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately 
in the consolidated income statement.

If the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer meets the criteria for cash flow hedge accounting, or the designation is revoked, 
then hedge accounting is prospectively discontinued and the amount recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income remains in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income until the forecast transaction affects profit or loss. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, then the balance in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are 
initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being the premium received, in other liabilities. The premium received is amortised 
in the consolidated income statement in ‘net fees and commission income’ on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. The guarantee liability is 
subsequently measured as a higher of the amount initially recognised less amortisation or the value of any financial obligation that may arise therefrom. 
Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is recognised in consolidated financial statements. 

Offsetting 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle either on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair values 
Fair values for financial instruments traded in active markets are based on closing bid prices. For all other financial instruments including financial instruments 
for which the market has become inactive, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include the fair value 
derived from recent arm’s length transaction, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, discounted cash flow method or 
other relevant valuation techniques commonly used by market participants. For investments in equity instruments, where a reasonable estimate of fair value 
cannot be determined, the investment is carried at cost.

The fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost, other than short-term in nature is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rates for similar financial instruments.

The fair value of a derivative financial instrument is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from marking to market the derivative financial instrument, 
using relevant market rates or internal pricing models.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is any objective evidence that an individually significant financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets are impaired if and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more loss events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset and that the loss event has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the financial assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. 

For loans and receivables, if there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the financial asset is written down to its recoverable amount. For loans and 
receivables with fixed interest rates, the recoverable amount is the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate and for loans and receivables with variable interest rates, the recoverable amount is discounted at the current effective interest rate as determined 
under the contract. Future cash flow includes amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral. Financial guarantees are assessed and impairment 
loss is recorded in a similar manner as for loans and receivables. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a provision account and 
the amount of impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased 
or reversed by adjusting the provision account. The amount of the increase or reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Loans and 
receivables together with the associated provision account are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral have been 
realised or have been transferred to the Group. If a write off is later recovered, the recovery is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Central Bank of Kuwait directives require the Group to maintain a minimum general provision of 1% on regular cash facilities and 0.5% on regular non cash 
credit facilities, net of certain categories of collateral.

For available for sale equity investments, the Group assess on each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that an investment 
or a group of investments is impaired. When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the consolidated income statement, is transferred from 
other comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the 
consolidated income statement. Any increase in their fair value after impairment is taken directly to other comprehensive income.

For available for sale debt instruments, the Group assess the instruments at an individual level to determine whether any objective evidence for impairment 
exists. When there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the instrument’s carrying value and the 
present value of the future cash flows. If in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instruments increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated 
income statement.

Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of the asset’s fair value less cost of sale and value in use.

Renegotiated loans
In the event of a default, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than take possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment arrangements 
and the agreement of new loan conditions. When the terms and conditions of these loans are renegotiated, the terms and conditions of the new contractual 
arrangement apply in determining whether these loans remain past due. Management continually reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are 
met and that future payments are likely to occur. 
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Investment in an associate
The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method. An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence but 
not control, generally representing a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes 
in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are 
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in other comprehensive income of associate is recognised in consolidated statement of changes in equity. Goodwill relating to the associate is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 

Where applicable, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies of the associate in line with those of the Group. The difference in reporting date of 
the associate and the Group is not more than three months. Adjustments are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between 
that date and the date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

At each reporting date, the Group determines if there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired, in which case the Group 
calculates the amount of impairment loss as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the 
amount in the consolidated income statement.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining investment at its fair value. Any difference between 
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks with original maturity not exceeding thirty days.

Premises and equipments
Premises and equipments other than freehold land are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on all 
premises and equipments, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life. 

Freehold land is initially recognised at cost. After initial recognition freehold land is carried at its revalued amount which is the fair value at the date of 
revaluation based on valuations by external independent valuers. The resultant revaluation surplus or deficit is recognised, as a separate component under 
other comprehensive income to the extent the deficit does not exceed the previously recognised surplus. The portion of the revaluation deficit that exceeds 
a previously recognised surplus is recognised in the consolidated income statement. To the extent that a revaluation surplus reverses a revaluation loss 
previously recognised in the consolidated income statement, the increase is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Upon disposal the revaluation 
surplus relating to the freehold land sold is transferred directly to retained earnings.

The assets residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. The estimated 
useful lives of the assets for the calculation of depreciation are as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years

The carrying amounts of premises and equipments are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts and the impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

End of service indemnity
Provision is made for amounts payable to employees under the Kuwait Labour Law, employee contracts and respective applicable laws in the countries 
where the branches operate.

Treasury shares 
Treasury shares consist of the Bank’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Bank and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are 
accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity. 
When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to the “treasury shares reserve”, which is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the 
same account to the extent of the credit balance in that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the reserves. No cash dividends 
are paid on these shares. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without 
affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

Revenue recognition
Interest income and expenses are recognised on an effective interest basis. Once a financial instrument categorised as loans and receivables is impaired, 
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Interest 
income and expenses for all interest bearing financial instruments including those classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss and investments 
available for sale, are recognised within interest income in the consolidated income statement.

Fees and commission that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are treated as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. 
Other fees and commission are recognised over the period of service. Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

Taxation
Taxation is provided for in accordance with the fiscal regulations in Kuwait and the United Arab Emirates where the foreign branches operate. 

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at value date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies 
outstanding at the year end are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at rates of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates 
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to Kuwaiti Dinars at the foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the dates that the values were determined. In case of non-monetary assets whose changes in fair values are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income, related foreign exchange differences are also recognised directly in other comprehensive income. For other non-monetary 
assets foreign exchange differences are recognised directly in the consolidated income statement.

Assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, of foreign operations are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the statement of financial 
position date. Operating results of such operations are translated at average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are accumulated 
in other comprehensive income until the disposal of the foreign operation.

Segment information
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it earns revenues and incurs costs. The operating 
segments are used by the management of the Bank to allocate resources and assess performance. Operating segments exhibiting similar economic 
characteristics, product and services, class of customers where appropriate are aggregated and reported as reportable segments.
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2  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

Use of estimates and assumptions
The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances 
and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. 

The basis used by management in determining the carrying values of loans and receivables and investments available for sale and the underlying risks therein 
are discussed below:

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Group reviews its loans and advances on a regular basis to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated income statement. 
In particular, considerable judgement by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level 
of provisions required. Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty.

Valuation of unquoted investments available for sale
Available for sale financial assets valued using valuation techniques or pricing models primarily consist of unquoted equities and debt securities.

These assets are valued using models that use both observable and un-observable data. The un-observable inputs to the models include assumptions 
regarding the future financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and economic assumptions regarding the industry and geographical jurisdiction 
in which the investee operates.

Any changes in these estimates and assumptions as well as the use of different, but equally reasonable estimates and assumptions may have an impact on 
carrying amounts of loans and receivables and investments available for sale.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgement, apart from those involving estimations, which 
have the most significant effect in the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification of financial assets 
On acquisition of financial assets, management decides whether it should be classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss or investments 
available for sale or loans and receivables. Further, determining whether or not the market for a quoted financial instrument is active requires judgement 
based on assessment of the volume/market conditions and availability of ready and regular quotes.

Impairment of investments available for sale 
The Group treats investments available for sale as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where 
other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgement and involves 
evaluating factors including industry and market conditions, future cash flows and discount factors.
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3 CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Cash in hand and in current account with other banks 32,236 33,838
Balances and deposits with the Central Bank of Kuwait 73,181 104,585
Deposits with banks 146,060 179,305

251,477 317,728

4 KUWAIT GOVERNMENT TREASURY BILLS AND BONDS AND CENTRAL BANK OF KUWAIT BONDS

These financial instruments are issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait on behalf of the Ministry of Finance or on its own behalf and are acquired from the 
primary market by the Group.

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES 

A reconciliation of the provision for credit losses for loans and advances to customers is as follows:

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

At 1 January 121,982 106,671
Exchange difference 49 (36)
Amounts written off during the year (18,301) (12,651)
Recoveries 1,370 4,039
Charge for the year (Note 15) 42,943 23,959

At 31 December 148,043 121,982

General Provision 122,418 107,997
Specific Provision 25,625 13,985

The Bank’s policy for calculating the provision for impairment losses on loans and advances agrees in all material respects with the requirements of the 
Central Bank of Kuwait in respect of specific provision.

As at 31 December 2012, loans and advances to customers individually determined to be impaired amounted to KD 112,106 thousand (31 December 2011: 
KD 91,365 thousand) with a specific provision of KD 25,625 thousand (2011: KD 13,985 thousand). The fair value of collateral that the Group held for 
impaired loans and advances to customers, as at 31 December 2012 was KD 99,774 thousand (31 December 2011: KD 110,543 thousand). 

The available provision on non-cash facilities is KD 13,078 thousand (2011: KD 15,048 thousand) and is included in other liabilities (Note 10).

For disclosures relating to credit risk management, credit concentration, credit quality by class and credit risk mitigants for loans and advances, refer  
to note 22A. 
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6 INVESTMENT SECURITIES

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of investment securities 

Level 1:  Quoted securities traded in active markets.

Level 2: Unquoted securities where significant valuation inputs are based on observable market data.

Level 3: Unquoted securities where significant valuation inputs are not based on observable market data.

Investments at fair  
value through profit or loss

Investments  
available for sale

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Level 1: 
Equity 788 1,565 11,660  10,424
Debt securities - - 115,349 115,144

Level 2: 
Equity - - 23,881 35,113
Debt securities - - 6,700 - 
Managed funds - - 4,182 3,907

Level 3: 
Equity - - 21,985 20,505
Debt securities - - 5,000 5,000

788 1,565 188,757 190,093

An amount of KD 1,480 thousand (2011: KD 588 thousand) was recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income representing increase 
in valuation in level 3 unquoted equity securities. The impact on the consolidated statement of financial position or the consolidated statement of 
shareholders’ equity would be immaterial if the relevant risk variables used to fair value the unquoted securities were altered by 5 per cent.

7 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

During the year, Credit One Kuwait Holding Company K.S.C. (“Credit One”), an unquoted holding company incorporated in Kuwait engaged in providing 
credit facilities to customers on instalment sale of goods and services has become an associate of the Bank with 35% equity interest and is accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting. 

Summarised financial information for the period ended 30 November 2012 is as follows:

Total
(KD’000s)

Assets 67,289
Liabilities 35,522
Equity 31,767
Revenue 8,312
Results 4,037

The Bank is in the process of completing the purchase price allocation of the identifiable net assets of the associate.
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8 OTHER ASSETS 

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Interest receivable 18,736 23,110
Others 14,998 15,189

33,734 38,299

Others include KD 8,585 thousand (2011: KD 8,566 thousand) which represents assets acquired in settlement of debt carried at lower of cost or fair value 
based on valuation provided by independent valuers.

9 PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group revalued its freehold land at KD 22,134 thousand (2011: KD 21,629 thousand) resulting in a gain of KD 499 thousand  
(2011: loss of KD 451 thousand) which is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

If the freehold land was measured using the cost model, the net carrying amount as at 31 December 2012 would be KD 16,599 thousand (2011: KD 16,593 thousand). 

10 OTHER LIABILITIES

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Interest payable 9,695 10,898
Interest received in advance 336 894
Staff related accruals 9,507 8,784
Provisions on non cash facilities (Note 5) 13,078 15,048
Others 27,255 27,810

59,871 63,434

11 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a)  The authorised, issued and fully paid share capital comprises 1,513,239,471 shares (2011: 1,441,180,449 shares) of 100 fils each. 

  The shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 10 March 2012 approved the distribution of cash dividend of 15 per cent and bonus shares 
of 5 per cent for the year ended 31 December 2011 (cash dividend of 20 per cent for the year ended 31 December 2010). The issue of bonus shares 
resulted in an increase in the number of authorised and issued shares by 72,059,022 shares and share capital by KD 7,206 thousand. Treasury shares 
are not entitled to any cash dividends.

b) The balance in the share premium account is not available for distribution.

c)  As required by the Commercial Companies Law, 10 per cent of the profit for the year before directors’ fees, contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the 
Advancement of Sciences, National Labour Support tax and Zakat has been transferred to statutory reserve. The Bank may resolve to discontinue such 
annual transfers when the reserve totals 50 per cent of paid up share capital.

  Distribution of this reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5 per cent of share capital in years when 
accumulated profits are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount.
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11 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

d)  The articles of association of the Bank require that an amount of not less than 10 per cent of the profit for the year be transferred annually to a general 
reserve. The transfer is before directors’ fees, contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences, National Labour Support tax and 
Zakat. There is no restriction on distribution of this reserve.

e)  As at 31 December 2012, the Bank held 202,743 (2011: 14,890,431) of its own shares equivalent to 0.01 per cent (2011: 1.03 per cent) of the total 
issued share capital at the statement of financial position date. The market value of these shares at 31 December 2012 amounted to KD 114 thousand 
(31 December 2011 KD 9,679 thousand).

f)  The directors have proposed a cash dividend of 6 per cent and bonus shares of 7 per cent for the year ended 31 December 2012, (2011: 15 per cent 
cash dividend and bonus shares of 5 per cent) subject to the approval of the shareholders at the annual general meeting.

12 INTEREST INCOME 

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Balances with banks 2,267 2,134
Loans and advances 103,627 107,749
Bills, bonds and debt securities 11,713 11,498

117,607 121,381

13 INTEREST EXPENSE 

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Due to banks and other financial institutions 5,300 6,490
Customers’ deposits:
 - Sight deposits 2,259 1,661
 - Time deposits 25,730 28,400

33,289 36,551

14 NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME 

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Fees and commission income 24,567 25,353
Fees and commission expense (1,147) (881)

23,420 24,472

Fees and commission income includes KD 932 thousand (2011: KD 898 thousand) from fiduciary activities.
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15 PROVISIONS / IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Cash facilities – general 17,976 18,094
Cash facilities – specific 24,967 5,865
Non cash facilities (1,973) (1,725)
Investments available for sale 2,659 2,093
Others 3,732 786

47,361 25,113

Others include KD 3,732 thousand (2011: Nil) representing amount paid in settlement of a customer legal claim.

16 TAXATION

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences 285 476
National Labour Support Tax 793 1,323
Zakat 317 529
Tax on overseas branches 1,350 1,560

2,745 3,888

17 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the year.

2012 2011

Net profit for the year (KD ‘000s) 30,027 50,336

Weighted average number of the Bank’s issued and paid-up shares 1,513,239,471 1,513,239,471
Less: Weighted average number of treasury shares (9,045,893) (15,559,686)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 1,504,193,578 1,497,679,785

Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils) 20 34

The prior year comparative has been restated for the effect of bonus shares issued during the current year. 
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18 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

These represent transactions with certain related parties (major shareholders, directors and senior management of the Group, close members of their 
families and entities of which they are principal owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence, managed funds and an associate entity) 
who were customers of the Group during the period. The terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. 

In the normal course of business, these related parties have deposits with the Bank and credit facilities granted to them by the Bank. The balances included 
in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Number Number of parties related to directors Amount

2012 2011 2012 2011
2012

(KD’000s)
2011

(KD’000s)

Directors
Loans and advances 4 4 1 1 2,643 195
Deposits 7 7 6 5 23,335 11,685
Commitments and contingent Liabilities - - 2 2 346 904

Loans and advances are fully collateralised.

Number Amount

2012 2011
2012

(KD’000s)
2011

(KD’000s)

Senior management
Loans and advances 9 9 147 205
Deposits 9 9 956 626
Commitments and contingent Liabilities 1 1 1 1

2012
(KD’000s)

Associate
Loans and advances 12,500
Deposits 754

Interest income and interest expense includes KD 709 thousand (2011: KD 27 thousand) and KD 218 thousand (2011: KD 195 thousand) respectively, on 
transactions with related parties.

The details of compensation for senior management officials are as follows:

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Salaries and other benefits 2,653 2,504
Post employment benefits 205 289

2,858 2,793
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19 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Acceptances 61,965 50,656
Letters of credit 198,768 213,445
Guarantees 660,575 635,524

921,308 899,625

The above balances represent the irrevocable contractual amounts of the Group’s off balance sheet financial instruments that commit the Bank to make 
payments on behalf of the customers in the event of a specific act. The contractual amounts represent the credit risk, assuming that the amounts are 
fully advanced and that any collateral or other security is of no value. The total contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments may expire or terminate without being funded. Total commitments to extend credit 
at the statement of financial position date amounted to KD 210,071 thousand (2011: KD 232,567 thousand).

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

In the normal course of its business the Group utilises derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest and foreign 
exchange rates. Derivative transactions result, to varying degrees, in credit as well as market risks.

The Group’s measure of derivative related credit risk is the cost of replacing contracts at current market rates should the counter party default on or prior 
to the settlement date and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group.

Market risk arises as interest and foreign exchange rates fluctuate affecting the value of a contract. For risk management purposes and to control these 
activities, the Group has established appropriate procedures and limits approved by the Board of Directors.

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities, together with their contractual amounts. The 
contractual amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the 
value of derivatives are measured. The contractual amounts represent the volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are not indicative of the 
credit or market risk.

2012 2011

Assets
(KD’000s)

Liabilities
(KD’000s)

Contractual amounts
(KD’000s)

Assets
(KD’000s)

Liabilities
(KD’000s)

Contractual amounts
(KD’000s)

Held for hedging:
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps - 683 16,875 11 373 16,713

Held for trading:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 4,054 1,171 189,007 2,895 733 101,942
Interest rate swaps - 439 88,883 687 - 100,000

4,054 2,293 294,765 3,593 1,106 218,655
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20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

All derivative contracts are fair valued based on observable market inputs.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are contractual agreements to buy, sell or exchange a specified financial instrument at a specific price and date in the 
future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted on the over the counter market and are settled on a gross basis. 

Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties and may involve exchange of interest or exchange of both principal and interest for a 
fixed period of time based on contractual terms.

21 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group is organised into segments that engage in business activities which earns revenue and incurs expenses. These segments are regularly reviewed 
by the chief operating decision maker for resource allocation and performance assessment. For the purposes of segment reporting the management has 
grouped the products and services into the following operating segments:

Commercial Banking - Comprising a full range of credit, deposit and related banking services provided to its commercial customers.

Treasury and Investment -  Comprising money market, foreign exchange, treasury bonds, asset and surplus fund management, investment securities and 
investment in an associate.

Operating income includes operating revenue directly attributable to a segment. Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a 
segment. Segment assets comprise those operating assets that are directly attributable to the segment.

Segmental information for the year ended 31 December is as follows: 

Commercial banking Treasury and Investment Total

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Operating income 102,029 101,189 14,420 14,411 116,449 115,600

Segment result 38,750 62,060 10,999 9,572 49,749 71,632
Unallocated expense (16,697) (17,143)

Profit before tax and directors’fees 33,052 54,489

Segment assets 2,091,814 2,206,388 818,278 806,253 2,910,092 3,012,641
Unallocated assets 62,927 67,160

Total assets 2,973,019 3,079,801

Segment liabilities 1,739,506 1,905,049 656,907 620,375 2,396,413 2,525,424
Unallocated liabilities 59,871 63,434

Total Liabilities 2,456,284 2,588,858

The commercial banking segment includes operating income of KD 9,562 thousand (2011: KD 9,790 thousand) and segment assets of KD 248,463 
thousand (2011: KD 212,153 thousand) relating to overseas branches.
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT 

A. CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The 
financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, policies and procedures for managing and measuring these risks is explained in the Risk 
Management section of the annual report.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the statement of financial position date is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or activities in the same geographic region, 
or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political 
or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry 
or geographic location. Maximum concentration of credit risk to a single or group of related counterparties is limited to 15 per cent of the Group’s 
comprehensive capital as determined by the regulatory guidelines.

In accordance with the instructions of the Central Bank of Kuwait dated 18 December 1996, setting out the rules and regulations regarding the classification 
of credit facilities, the Group has formed an internal committee which is composed of competent professional staff and which has as its purpose the study 
and evaluation of the existing credit facilities of each customer of the Group. This Committee is required to identify any abnormal situations and difficulties 
associated with a customer’s position, which might cause the debt to be classified as irregular, and to determine an appropriate provisioning level.

Derivative financial instruments 
Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Credit-related commitments risks 
The Group makes available to its customers, financial guarantees which may require that the Group makes payments on their behalf. Such payments are 
collected from customers based on the terms of the financial guarantees. They expose the Group to similar risks to loans and advances and these are 
mitigated by the same control processes and policies.

Credit concentration risks
Geographical and industry sector concentrations of financial assets and contingent liabilities with credit risk are as follows:

2012 2011

Assets
(KD’000s)

Contingent liabilities
(KD’000s)

Assets
(KD’000s)

Contingent liabilities
(KD’000s)

Geographic region:
Domestic (Kuwait) 2,355,268 422,385 2,493,760 466,868
Other Middle East 360,816 135,940 341,395 104,885
Europe 86,954 96,381 88,937 90,474
United States of America 2,949 375 3,094 1,037
Rest of the world 46,075 266,227 31,712 236,361

2,852,062 921,308 2,958,898 899,625

Industry sector:
Trading and manufacturing 292,139 185,903 335,465 176,056
Banks and other financial institutions 559,877 377,979 609,851 353,077
Construction and real estate 729,011 246,003 718,013 232,823
Others including government 1,271,035 111,423 1,295,569 137,669

2,852,062 921,308 2,958,898 899,625
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

A. CREDIT RISK (continued)
Gross maximum exposures and credit quality of financial instruments

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position, without taking account 
of any collateral and other credit enhancements. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting 
and collateral agreements.

The table also shows the credit risk exposure by credit quality of financial assets by class, grade and status:

Neither Past due nor Impaired

High
grade

(KD’000s)

Standard 
grade

(KD’000s)

Acceptable 
grade

(KD’000s)

Past due including
 individually

impaired
(KD’000s)

 Gross Maximum
 exposures 

(KD’000s)

 31 December 2012
Balances with banks 242,792 12 - - 242,804
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds (Note 4) 211,775 - - - 211,775
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds (Note 4) 259,654 - - - 259,654
Loans and advances 
- Loans to customers 1,423,674 235,959 136,467 108,960 1,905,060
- Loans to banks 81,809 - - - 81,809
Debt securities available for sale (Note 6) 122,049 5,000 - - 127,049
Other assets 21,171 1,646 932 162 23,911

Total 2,362,924 242,617 137,399 109,122 2,852,062

31 December 2011
Balances with banks 306,808 6 - - 306,814
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds (Note 4) 237,048 - - - 237,048
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds (Note 4) 199,828 - - - 199,828
Loans and advances 
- Loans to customers 1,550,411 290,222 80,382 104,367 2,025,382
- Loans to banks 40,997 - - - 40,997
Debt securities available for sale (Note 6) 115,144 5,000 - - 120,144
Other assets 25,416 2,393 652 224 28,685

Total 2,475,652 297,621 81,034 104,591 2,958,898

The gross maximum credit risk exposure relating to contingencies amounts to KD 921,308 thousand (2011: KD 899,625 thousand).

The high, standard and acceptable grades of classification of loans to customers above is based on inherent credit quality of the counterparties, the assessed 
risk profile, acceptability and availability of collateral in accordance with Group’s internal rating model. Grading of balances with banks, loans to banks and 
debt investments available for sale are based on the external rating of the counterparties.

Past due including individually impaired loans and advances above include KD 23,697 thousand (2011: KD 27,614 thousand) which are past due for less 
than 90 days and are not considered as impaired.
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

A. CREDIT RISK (continued)
The fair value of collateral that the Group held for past due including individually impaired loans and advances to customers, as at 31 December 2012 was 
KD 139,631 thousand (31 December 2011: KD 129,720 thousand). The Group has taken adequate legal measures to secure recovery of collateral when 
needed. Impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in Note 5. 

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk exposure but not the maximum risk 
exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values. 

Collateral and other credit enhancements 
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the 
acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are cash, securities, and charges over real estate properties and counter-guarantees.

Management monitors the market value of collateral on an ongoing basis and requests additional collateral, if required, in accordance with the underlying 
agreement. At 31 December 2012, the Group held collateral with a fair value of KD 1,834,563 thousand (31 December 2011: KD 1,879,700 thousand).

It is the Group’s policy to repossess collaterals mortgaged and reduce or repay the outstanding claims. The repossessed assets are disposed depending upon 
the market conditions and regulatory directives. In general, the Group does not use repossessed assets for business.

At 31 December 2012, 52.40 per cent (31 December 2011: 53.14 per cent) of the total outstanding loans to customers were secured with a collateral 
coverage of 1.52 times (2011: 1.50 times) the underlying loans.

B.  LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity is the ongoing ability to accommodate maturing liabilities and deposit withdrawals; fund asset growth and business operations; and meet 
contractual obligations through unconstrained access to funding at reasonable market rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk 
may also result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, 
policies and procedures for managing and measuring these risks are explained in the Risk Management section of the annual report.
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

B.  LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments, 
which are subject to notice, are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. 

Financial liabilities

Less than
 one month

(KD’000s)

One month to
 one year
(KD’000s)

One year to
 five years 

(KD’000s)

Over
 five years

(KD’000s)
Total

(KD’000s)

31 December 2012
Due to banks and other financial institutions 163,014 344,438 55,907 - 563,359
Customers’ deposits 1,010,598 728,187 144,539 - 1,883,324
Other liabilities - 50,176 - - 50,176

1,173,612 1,122,801 200,446 - 2,496,859

31 December 2011
Due to banks and other financial institutions 107,595 321,384 - - 428,979
Customers’ deposits 1,180,955 778,098 142,071 47,592 2,148,716
Other liabilities - 52,536 - - 52,536

1,288,550 1,152,018 142,071 47,592 2,630,231

Contractual amounts for gross settled derivative positions total to KD 277,890 thousand (2011: KD 201,942 thousand), of which KD 118,779 thousand 
(2011: KD 78,011 thousand) expires within three months.

Substantially all acceptances and letters of credit commitments expire within a year, while 63 per cent (2011: 62 per cent) of the guarantees expire within 
one year, while the remaining portion expires within a period not exceeding five years.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on 
the basis of the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date, except for equity investments at fair value 
through profit or loss, investments available for sale, investment in an associate and premises and equipment. The maturity profile for investments at fair 
value through profit or loss, investments available for sale, investment in an associate and premises and equipment is determined based on management’s 
estimate of liquidation of those investments. 

The actual maturities may differ from the maturities shown below since the borrower may have the right to prepay obligations with or without prepayment 
penalties, and customers’ deposits might have to be repaid on demand. 
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

B.  LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)
The maturity profile as at 31 December 2012 was as follows:

Less than
 one month

(KD’000s)

One month to
 one year
(KD’000s)

One year to
 five years 

(KD’000s)

Over
 five years

(KD’000s)
Total

(KD’000s)

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 223,950 27,527 - - 251,477
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds 10,762 121,419 74,594 5,000 211,775
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds 94,969 164,685 - - 259,654
Loans and advances 426,321 1,002,172 385,273 173,103 1,986,869
Investment securities - 68,941 107,786 12,818 189,545
Investment in an associate - - 10,772 - 10,772
Other assets - 25,149 8,585 - 33,734
Premises and equipment - - - 29,193 29,193

Total assets 756,002 1,409,893 587,010 220,114 2,973,019

LIABILITIES 
Due to banks and other financial institutions 162,903 339,619 55,218 - 557,740
Customers’ deposits 1,002,610 709,219 126,844 - 1,838,673
Other liabilities - 59,871 - - 59,871

Total liabilities 1,165,513 1,108,709 182,062 - 2,456,284

The maturity profile as at 31 December 2011 was as follows:

Less than
 one month

(KD’000s)

One month to
 one year
(KD’000s)

One year to
 five years 
(KD’000s)

Over
 five years
(KD’000s)

Total
(KD’000s)

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 263,170 54,558 - - 317,728
Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds 59,961 157,007 20,080 - 237,048
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds 139,940 59,888 - - 199,828
Loans and advances 360,914 1,017,324 539,037 149,104 2,066,379
Investment securities - 80,330 99,062 12,266 191,658
Other assets - 29,733 8,566 - 38,299
Premises and equipment - - - 28,861 28,861

Total assets 823,985 1,398,840 666,745 190,231 3,079,801

LIABILITIES 
Due to banks and other financial institutions 107,386 315,605 - - 422,991
Customers’ deposits 1,171,537 758,462 130,651 41,783 2,102,433
Other liabilities - 63,434 - - 63,434

Total liabilities 1,278,923 1,137,501 130,651 41,783 2,588,858
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

C. MARKET RISK

C.1 INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Board has 
established limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated years. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions 
are maintained within the established limits. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, policies and procedures for managing and 
measuring these risks are explained in the Risk Management section of the annual report.

The sensitivity of interest rate variability on the Group’s consolidated income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net 
interest income for one year, based on the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2012 including the effect of hedging 
instruments. The sensitivity of interest rate variability on the Equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate investments available for sale, including the effect of 
any associated hedges as at 31 December 2012 for the effects of the assumed changes in interest rates and is analysed by maturity of the asset or swap. 

The following table reflects the effect of 25 basis points change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant.

Effect

2012 2011

Net profit
(KD’000s)

Equity
(KD’000s)

Net profit
(KD’000s)

Equity
(KD’000s)

Kuwaiti Dinar 1,666 - 1,616 - 
US Dollars 103 764 125 760

C.2 CURRENCY RISK 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Board of Directors has set limits 
on positions by currency. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established 
limits. The financial instruments exposed to these risks. The objectives, policies and procedures for managing and measuring these risks are explained in the 
Risk Management section of the annual report.

The effect on net profit for the year, as a result of 5 per cent change in currency rate due to the changes in fair value of monetary assets and liabilities, with 
all other variables held constant is shown below:

Effect

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Currency
US Dollars 18 5
Euro 1 2
Others 22 7
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22 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

C. MARKET RISK (continued)

C.3  EQUITY PRICE RISK
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual stocks. 
The equity price risk exposure arises from the Bank’s investment portfolio. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, policies and 
procedures for managing and measuring these risks are explained in the Risk Management section of the annual report.

The effect on consolidated income statement (as a result of equity price risk on investments at fair value through profit and loss and further impairment 
on impaired available for sale equity investments) and on Equity (as a result of a change in the fair value of available for sale equity investments), as at 31 
December, due to a 5 per cent change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant is as follows:

Effect

2012 2011

Net profit
(KD’000s)

Equity
(KD’000s)

Net profit
(KD’000s)

Equity
(KD’000s)

GCC Stock Exchanges 272 782 527 570

C.4  PREPAYMENT RISK
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or request repayment earlier or later than 
expected, such as fixed rate loans and advances when interest rates fall. Majority of the Group’s interests bearing financial assets are at floating rates. Also, 
majority of the interest bearing financial liabilities have a maturity of less than 1 year and accordingly, the Group is not exposed to significant prepayment 
risk. The financial instruments exposed to these risks, the objectives, policies and procedures for managing and measuring these risks are explained in the 
Risk Management section of the annual report.

D OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause 
damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a 
control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Group is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, 
access, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit. The financial instruments exposed 
to these risks, the objectives, policies and procedures for managing and measuring these risks are explained in the Risk Management section of the annual report.

The Risk Management Division manages operational risks in line with the Central Bank of Kuwait instructions dated 14 November 1996, concerning 
the general guidelines for internal controls and the instructions dated 13 December 2003, regarding the sound practices for managing and supervising 
operational risks in banks.
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23 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratios are as follows: 

2012
(KD’000s)

2011
(KD’000s)

Risk Weighted Assets 1,816,694 1,910,975
Capital required 218,003 229,317

Capital available:
Tier 1 capital 471,530 445,652
Tier 2 capital 30,820 34,020

Total capital 502,350 479,672

Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 25.96% 23.32%
Total capital adequacy ratio 27.65% 25.10%

The disclosures relating to the Capital Adequacy Regulations issued by Central Bank of Kuwait as stipulated in CBK Circular number 2/BS/184/2005 dated 
21 December 2005, as amended, are included under the Risk Management section of the annual report.

24 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial instruments comprise of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Financial assets consist of cash and balances with banks, Kuwait Government treasury bills and bonds, Central Bank of Kuwait Bonds, loans and advances, 
investment securities and certain other assets.

Financial liabilities consist of due to banks and other financial institutions, customer deposits and certain other liabilities.

Fair values of all financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values.

25 FIDUCIARY ASSETS 

The fiduciary assets managed by the Group as at 31 December 2012 amounted to KD 155,033 thousand (2011: KD 186,389 thousand).
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Branch Network

DOMESTIC BRANCHES

Main Branch
Ahmad Al Jaber Street، Safat Square
P.O. Box 1387 Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  22400900 / 22411100
Fax: 22417284
Email: headoffice@abkuwait.com

Salmiya Branch 
Almulla Complex,  
Salem Al Mubarak Street 
(Close to Marks & Spencer)
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  25716562 / 25710088 / 25731411
Fax: 25721964
Email: salmiya@abkuwait.com

Hawalli Branch 
Al Ahli Bank Building, Tunis Street
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait 
Tel:  22643877 / 22612701 
Fax: 22659203
Email: hawalli@abkuwait.com

Fahaheel Branch 
Al Manshar Complex, Near Al Kout Mall
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  23912200 / 23912201
Fax: 23927685
Email: fahaheel@abkuwait.com

University Branch 
Kuwait University, Khaldiya
(Library / Administration Complex)
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24819176 / 24819177
Fax: 24837508
Email: university@abkuwait.com

Shuwaikh Branch 
Banks Street
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24815171 / 24815172
Fax: 24838524
Email: shuwaikh@abkuwait.com

Sabah Hospital Branch 
Sabah Hospital
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24819477 / 24819478
Fax: 24838525
Email: sabah@abkuwait.com

Sharq Branch 
Behbehani Complex
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  22437545 / 22437546
Fax: 22402675
Email: sharq@abkuwait.com 

Farwaniya Branch 
Al Ettehad Complex,  
Habib Munawer Street
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24731950 / 24740977
Fax: 24737429
Email: farwaniya@abkuwait.com

Sabhan Branch
Industrial Area, Block 7, Building 3
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24714655
Fax: 24747136
Email: sabhan@abkuwait.com

Jabriya Branch
Block 7, Street 102, Near Police Station
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  25333690 / 25333691
Fax: 25320017
Email: jabriya@abkuwait.com

Jahra Branch 
Near Al Waha Polyclinic,  
Al Waha Area, Block 3
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24559495 / 24559552
Fax: 24557046
Email: jahra@abkuwait.com

Jahra Branch (2)
Mubarak Complex 2
Jahra Commercial Center
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24564207 / 24564208
Fax: 24564301 
Email: jahra2@abkuwait.com

Qurain Branch
Al Qurain Cooperative Bldg,  
Near Police Station
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  25422853 / 25422854 
Fax: 25422851
Email: qurain@abkuwait.com

Ministries Complex Branch
Ministries Complex, Block 17
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  22439092 / 22439093
Fax: 22439096
Email: ministryc@abkuwait.com

Galleria 2000 Branch
Galleria 2000,  
Salem Al Mubarak St., Salmiya
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  25713400 / 25713500
Fax: 25718400
Email: galleria@abkuwait.com

Al-Zahraa Branch
Zahraa Area, Block 4
Association of Cooperative Al Zahra
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  25245088 / 25245077
Fax: 25246183
Email: southsurra@abkuwait.com

Liberation Tower Branch
Liberation Tower, Safat
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  22493507 / 22493508
Fax: 22493506
Email: libtower@abkuwait.com

Mansouriya Branch
Block 2, Al Arabi Street
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  22542907 / 22542908 
Fax: 22542914
Email: mansouriya@abkuwait.com
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Hadiya Branch
Block 1, Hadiya Co-op
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  23941536 / 23941373
Fax: 23941548 
Email: hadiyabr@abkuwait.com

Ahmadi Branch
East Ahmadi, Mustafa Karam Co. 
Building 15, Ground Floor No. 1
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  23989589 / 23989592 
Fax: 23989615
Email: ahmadi@abkuwait.com

Jleeb Al-Shyoukh Branch
Al Jawhara Mall - Block 7 / 8 / 9
Building A 34 - Street 1, Ground Floor
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24341877 
Fax: 24341442
Email: aljaleeb@abkuwait.com

Al Sulaibiyah - Al Forda Branch
Government Property,
Al-Wafer Marketing Services
Shop No: B1/G/12/BA/03
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24643932 / 24643933 / 24643930
Fax: 24643931
Email: Sulaibiyah_Forda@abkuwait.com

Khaitan Branch
Khaitan, Abraj Rona Real-estate complex
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24752263 / 24753325 
Fax: 24752696
Email: khaitan@abkuwait.com

Al Bahar Center Branch
Al Bahar Center, Tuniss. St. 
Block 61 - Building 81
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  22613580 
Fax: 22613426
Email: AlBaharCent.632@abkuwait.com

Andalous Branch
Commercial Area 
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  24891754 / 24891624 / 24891802 
Fax: 24891094
Email: andalousBr@abkuwait.com

Salwa Branch
Salwa Area Block (2)  
Street (1) Avenue (315), 
Ground Floor
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  25644287 / 25644293
Fax: 25644273
Email: salwabr@abkuwait.com

Olympia Branch
Olympia Complex,  
Salmiyah Area Block (71)
Salem Al Mubarak Street 
P.O. Box 1387, Safat, 13014 Kuwait
Tel:  22268621 / 22268622 / 22268623 
Fax: 22268620
Email: OlympiaComplex@abkuwait.com

OVERSEAS  BRANCHES

Dubai Branch 
Abu Baker Al Siddique St., Deira
P.O. Box 1719, Dubai, UAE
Tel:  (+9714) 2681118 / 2687171
Fax: (+9714) 2684445
Email: infodubai@abkuwait.com

Abu Dhabi Branch 
EIBFS Muroor Tower - Sector E25
Muroor Street, Abu Dhabi, UAE
P.O. Box 7941, Al Nadi Seyahi
Abu Dhabi, UAE
Tel:  (+9712) 4015150
Fax: (+9712) 4439070
Email: abkabudhabi@ahlibank.ae
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Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait K.S.C

Established in the State of Kuwait
By Amiri Decree on 23 May 1967
Paid Up Capital as at 31 Dec 2012: KD 151,323,947.104
Commercial Register: 3705
Telex:  22067, 23256, 23257
Reuters:  AHLK
SWIFT:  ABKK-KW-KW
Cable:  AHLIBANK-KUWAIT
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